

LUND UNIVERSITY

Non-coagulating milk from Swedish Red Dairy Cattle

Influence of milk composition, physical properties and genetic parameters

Nilsson, Kajsa

2020

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Nilsson, K. (2020). Non-coagulating milk from Swedish Red Dairy Cattle: Influence of milk composition, physical properties and genetic parameters. Food Technology, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Non-coagulating milk from Swedish Red Dairy Cattle

Influence of milk composition, physical properties and genetic parameters

KAJSA NILSSON

DEPARTMENT OF FOOD TECHNOLOGY, ENGINEERING AND NUTRITION | LUND UNIVERSITY







ISBN 978-91-7895-446-9



Non-coagulating milk from Swedish Red Dairy Cattle

Influence of milk composition, physical properties and genetic parameters

Non-coagulating milk from Swedish Red Dairy Cattle

Influence of milk composition, physical properties and genetic parameters

Kajsa Nilsson 2020



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Engineering at Lund University, Sweden. To be defended 8th of May 2020 at 10.15 at Kemicentrum lecture hall B, Naturvetarvägen 14, Lund.

Faculty opponent Professor Siv Skeie, Department of Chemistry, Biotechnology and Food Science, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway

Organization	Document name	on	
Department of Food Technology	Date of issue	Date of issue	
Engineering and Nutrition	2020-05-08	2020-05-08	
Author Sponsoring organiz Kaisa Nilsson Agricultural Research		nization Swedish Farmers' Foundation for rch and VinkingGenetics	
Non-coagulating milk from Swedish R	ed Dairy Cattle - Influence of	milk composition, physical properties and	
Abstract			
Non-coagulating (NC) milk is unwanted in cheese production, as it lowers cheese yield and prolongs processing time. Less yield will lead to economic losses at the dairies. Even if NC milk has been found in several breeds, studies suggest that Swedish Red Dairy cattle (RDC) has a higher frequency of NC milk than most other breeds. In order to strengthen the competitiveness of Swedish RDC and ensure a versatile milk, it is therefore important to reduce the frequency of NC milk in this breed. The aim of this thesis has been to study NC milk from Swedish RDC from different perspectives and to determine the current frequency of NC milk within this breed. Further, by investigating the composition of NC milk samples as well as genetic parameters, the aim was to explore phenotypic markers that can be used in selective breeding to reduce the frequency of cows producing NC milk. Milk samples from over 700 cows from Swedish RDC was collected and rheologically evaluated. The milk samples were also used to investigate milk composition, including a detailed protein profile with genetic variants, phosphorylations and glycosylations. Additionally, the enzymatic stage of the coagulation process was studied in both coagulating and NC milk samples were collected, giving possibilities to combine knowledge about milk traits with genetic parameters. The results showed that 18.1% of the cows produced milk that did not coagulate within 40 minutes after chymosin addition and was thereby defined as NC milk samples. Additionally, 18.9% of the cows produced milk that coagulated poorly, resulting in a total frequency of 37% of the cows that produced milk which is not optimal for cheese production. NC milk was found to have a moderate estimated heritability of 0.28, suggesting possibilities for selective breeding of this trait. The study of the enzymatic stage showed cleavage of k-casein in the NC milk rame.			
The combined information about milk traits and genetic parameters resulted in four suggested phenotypic markers. These can be used as indirect breeding parameters to reduce the frequency of NC milk in Swedish RDC. The four markers were: κ -casein, α -lactalbumin, and calcium contents as well as genetic variants of β -casein. These showed different relations with NC milk, where NC milk contained lower κ -casein and calcium contents but higher α -lactalbumin content compared to coagulating milk. The estimated heritability of these three parameters ranged from 0.12-0.77, showing different possibilities to use them within breeding. The genetic correlations for the three parameters with NC milk were all significant and moderate to high. Further, NC milk had a higher frequency of β -CN A2 and lower frequency of β -CN A1 compared to coagulating milk, which may also be used for breeding strategies. This thesis has thereby pointed out phenotypic markers found in NC milk that have potential to be used in selective breeding in order to reduce the frequency of NC milk in Swedish RDC. A reduced NC frequency in Swedish RDC would strengthen the competitiveness of this breed by ensuring profitable and multifunctional milk, useful for several dairy products. This leads to an increased economic gain for stakeholders and a more sustainable dairy production.			
Key words Non-coagulating milk, milk composistion, protein profile, hydrolysation, heritability, genetic parameter			
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information Language English		Language English	
ISSN and key title		ISBN (print) 978-91-7895-446-9 ISBN (digital) 978-91-7895-447-6	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 68	Price	
Security classification			

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature Date 2020-03-26

Non-coagulating milk from Swedish Red Dairy Cattle

Influence of milk composition, physical properties and genetic parameters

Kajsa Nilsson 2020



Coverphoto by Kajsa Nilsson

Copyright 1-68 Kajsa Nilsson

Paper 1 © Elsevier

Paper 2 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Engineering, Lund University Department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition

ISBN (print): 978-91-7895-446-9 ISBN (digital): 978-91-7895-447-6

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2020



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN

Prepare for a cheesy story

Table of Contents

Abstract	10
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	12
List of papers included in the thesis	15
The author's contribution to the papers	16
Abbreviations	17
Introduction	19
Background to present PhD thesis	19
Hypothesis	
Aim	21
Milk composition	22
Protein composition	22
Casein micelles	25
Analytical techniques for protein determination	26
Cheese production	27
Rennet-induced coagulation	
Non-coagulating milk	
Cow genetics	
Breeding and heritability	
Milk genomics	
Prevalence of non-coagulating milk	37
Non-coagulating milk in Swedish Red Dairy Cattle	37
Farm distribution	
Lactation and parity distribution	39
Composition of non-coagulating milk	43
Protein profile	45
Calcium content	50
Coagulation process	51
Breeding nerspectives to reduce non-coagulating milk	53

Conclusions	57
Future outlook	59
References	61
Acknowledgements	67

Abstract

Non-coagulating (NC) milk is unwanted in cheese production, as it lowers cheese yield and prolongs processing time. Less yield will lead to economic losses at the dairies. Even if NC milk has been found in several breeds, studies suggest that Swedish Red Dairy cattle (RDC) has a higher frequency of NC milk than most other breeds. In order to strengthen the competitiveness of Swedish RDC and ensure a versatile milk, it is therefore important to reduce the frequency of NC milk in this breed. The aim of this thesis has been to study NC milk from Swedish RDC from different perspectives and to determine the current frequency of NC milk within this breed. Further, by investigating the composition of NC milk samples as well as genetic parameters, the aim was to explore phenotypic markers that can be used in selective breeding to reduce the frequency of cows producing NC milk.

Milk samples from over 700 cows from Swedish RDC was collected and rheologically evaluated. The milk samples were also used to investigate milk composition, including a detailed protein profile with genetic variants, phosphorylations and glycosylations. Additionally, the enzymatic stage of the coagulation process was studied in both coagulating and NC milk samples, in order to determine if faults in the enzymatic or in the aggregation stage causes NC milk. Further, blood samples were collected, giving possibilities to combine knowledge about milk traits with genetic parameters.

The results showed that 18.1% of the cows produced milk that did not coagulate within 40 minutes after chymosin addition and was thereby defined as NC milk samples. Additionally, 18.9% of the cows produced milk that coagulated poorly, resulting in a total frequency of 37% of the cows that produced milk which is not optimal for cheese production. NC milk was found to have a moderate estimated heritability of 0.28, suggesting possibilities for selective breeding of this trait. The study of the enzymatic stage showed cleavage of κ -casein in the NC milk samples, indicating that NC milk is caused by issues in the aggregation stage of the coagulation process, and not the enzymatic stage.

The combined information about milk traits and genetic parameters resulted in four suggested phenotypic markers. These can be used as indirect breeding parameters to reduce the frequency of NC milk in Swedish RDC. The four markers were: κ -casein, α -lactalbumin, and calcium contents as well as genetic variants of β -casein. These showed different relations with NC milk, where NC milk contained lower κ -

casein and calcium contents but higher α -lactalbumin content compared to coagulating milk. The estimated heritability of these three parameters ranged from 0.12-0.77, showing different possibilities to use them within breeding. The genetic correlations for the three parameters with NC milk were all significant and moderate to high. Further, NC milk had a higher frequency of β -CN A² and lower frequency of β -CN A¹ compared to coagulating milk, which may also be used for breeding strategies.

This thesis has thereby pointed out phenotypic markers found in NC milk that have potential to be used in selective breeding in order to reduce the frequency of NC milk in Swedish RDC. A reduced NC frequency in Swedish RDC would strengthen the competitiveness of this breed by ensuring profitable and multifunctional milk, useful for several dairy products. This leads to an increased economic gain for stakeholders and a more sustainable dairy production.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Avla kor i en ostligare riktning

Mjölk som inte koagulerar, det vill säga icke-koagulerande mjölk, är ett stort problem i ostproduktionen eftersom det resulterar i mindre mängd producerad ost. Den till antal näst största mjölkkorasen i Sverige, Svensk röd och vit boskap, är kopplad till en hög andel icke-koagulerande mjölk. Denna avhandling är inriktad på att få mer kunskap om sammansättning, fysikaliska egenskaper och ärftliga parametrar i icke-koagulerande mjölk, för att förstå den bakomliggande orsaken och därmed på sikt kunna minska andelen icke-koagulerande mjölk genom avel.

Ost har producerats av människan i tusentals år och var ursprungligen ett sätt att konservera mjölk. Genom att tillsätta syra eller löpe kommer proteiner som heter kasein att bilda en ostgel. Förutom kasein stannar även mjölkfettet kvar i osten, medan vatten, resterande proteiner, laktos och salt pressas ut i en vätska som kallas vassle. Den minskade mängden vatten jämfört med mjölk bidrar till längre hållbarhet, eftersom bakterier och mögel föredrar fuktiga miljöer. Även om vi nuförtiden har andra metoder för att förlänga hållbarheten på mjölk (till exempel kylskåp och värmebehandling), äter vi fortfarande stora mängder ost, främst för den goda smakens skull. Det är också viktigt att komma ihåg att ost är en utmärkt källa för mineraler så som kalcium. I Sverige används runt en tredjedel av all producerad komjölk till just ostproduktion.



Schematisk bild över koaguleringsfasen vid osttillverkning. Löpe delar på κ-kasein vid micellernas yta, vilket gör att micellerna sedan kan binda in till varandra och så småningom bilda en gel.

Kasein är en grupp av olika proteiner som naturligt finns i mjölk i form av sfäriska strukturer som heter kaseinmiceller. Vissa av kaseinerna, κ -kasein, sitter på ytan av

micellerna och är negativt laddade vilket därför bidrar till att micellerna stöter bort varandra. Att ta bort micellernas förmåga att stöta bort varandra är viktigt i ostproduktionen och detta görs i det första steget i ostproduktionen som kallas för koaguleringsfasen. Det är då mjölk går från en vätska till en gel. Detta sker genom att enzymet kymosin (en av komponenterna i löpe) tillsätts till mjölken och delar på κ-kasein som sitter på vtan av kaseinmicellerna. Detta gör att både det steriska hindret och laddningarna som gjort att micellerna stött bort varandra försvinner. Därefter kommer micellerna att börja binda in till varandra med hjälp av fria kalciumjoner och en gel kommer att bildas. Om det är problem i koaguleringsfasen, påverkas resten av processen och det är därför extra viktigt att detta går rätt till. Inom ostindustrin är det önskvärt att mjölken blir till en gel inom 40 minuter, eftersom det kostar rent ekonomiskt att vänta längre. Om mjölken inte blivit en gel inom denna tid kallas mjölken för icke-koagulerande mjölk. Den icke-koagulerande mjölken lämpar sig inte särskilt bra för ostproduktion eftersom icke-koagulerande mjölk inte bildar någon ostgel. Dock blandas mjölk från flera kor och gårdar på mejerierna och därmed är resultatet inte så drastiskt att det inte blir någon ost alls. Tidigare forskning har dock visat att den icke-koagulerande mjölken påverkar koaguleringsfasen även när den är uppblandad med annan mjölk. Detta leder till att mjölken koagulerar i en långsammare hastighet vilket leder till att det blir mindre mängd ost från mjölken.

Svensk röd och vit boskap (SRB) är den till antal näst största mjölkkorasen i Sverige. Rasen är populär bland lantbrukare då korna är friska och har höga halter av fett och protein i mjölken. Tyvärr har också SRB en hög andel kor som producerar icke-koagulerande mjölk. I denna avhandling visas det att runt en femtedel av korna från denna ras producerar mjölk som inte koagulerar inom den önskvärda tiden på 40 minuter. Genom att uppskatta hur mycket mjölk från SRB kor som används i svensk ostproduktion, beräknar man att den icke-koagulerande mjölken ger en stor ekonomisk förlust varje år. Men eftersom SRB kor är friska och har hög halt av fett och protein i mjölken, är det viktigt att försöka minska mängden icke-koagulerande mjölk från denna ras för att inte lantbrukare ska sluta satsa på SRB kor. Minskar mängden icke-koagulerande mjölk från SRB, kommer det göra att mjölken passar bättre till osttillverkning.

I denna avhandling har mjölkprover från runt 700 SRB kor samlats in och undersökts för att hitta en lösning på problemet med icke-koagulerande mjölk. Mjölken har bland annat använts för att försöka hitta skillnader i innehållet mellan mjölk som koagulerar och den som inte gör det för att försöka förklara varför mjölken inte koagulerar. Resultaten visar att det finns skillnader i sammansättningen mellan icke-koagulerande mjölk och mjölk som koagulerar, speciellt i proteinsammansättningen. Icke-koagulerande mjölk kunde kopplas till mindre andel kalcium och κ -kasein i mjölken. Dessutom hade den icke-koagulerande mjölken mer av proteinet α -lactalbumin som gärna binder till kalcium, vilket därmed ger ännu mindre mängd obundet kalcium i mjölken vid koaguleringsfasen. Förutom olika typer av proteiner i mjölken så finns det även genetiska varianter av samma protein som har uppkommit genom mutationer. Även skillnader i dessa genetiska varianter kunde ses mellan den mjölk som koagulerade och den som inte gjorde det.

I denna avhandling gjordes även undersökningar om när i koaguleringsfasen som mekanismen inte fungerar i den icke-koagulerande mjölken. Det visade sig att när löpe, eller mer specifikt kymosin, tillsätts i den icke-koagulerande mjölken klipps κ -kasein på samma sätt och i liknande hastighet som i koagulerande mjölk. Därmed är det troligtvis när micellerna ska bindas samman till en gel som problemet uppstår.



Utöver mjölkprover samlades även blodprover från korna in. I blodproven kan man uppskatta hur mycket av variansen i sammansättning som ärvs mellan kor, det vill säga arvbarheten för dessa egenskaper. Genom att kombinera kunskapen om vilka komponenter i mjölk som det finns mer eller mindre av i icke-koagulerande mjölk med dessa komponenters arvbarhet, kan denna kunskap användas i avelsindustrin i selektiv avel. Därmed kan man styra aveln mot mjölk som har större sannolikhet att koagulera. Resultat i denna avhandling visar på att det finns möjligheter att till exempel avla mot mer mängd κ-kasein i mjölk och därmed indirekt avla mot mindre sannolikhet att mjölken är icke-koagulerande.

Sammanfattningsvis har forskningen i denna avhandling gjorts för att ickekoagulerande mjölk inte ska fortsätta att ärvas vidare utan att denna oönskade egenskap istället drastiskt ska minska. En minskning av icke-koagulerande mjölk skulle inte bara gynna ostindustrin, utan också leda till att stärka SRB rasen genom att få mjölk som passar till alla ändamål, men också genom att dessa friska kor kan fortsätta bidra till våra öppna landskap.

List of papers included in the thesis

- I. Characterisation of non-coagulating milk and effects of milk composition and physical properties on rennet-induced coagulation in Swedish Red Dairy Cattle (2019). Nilsson K., Stålhammar H., Stenholdt Hansen M., Lindmark-Månsson H., Duchemin S., Fikse F., de Koning D.J., Paulsson M. and Glantz M. *International Dairy Journal 95:50-57*.
- II. Effects of milk proteins and post-translational modifications on noncoagulating milk from Swedish Red Dairy Cattle. Nilsson K., Buhelt Johansen L., de Koning D.J., Duchemin S., Stenholdt Hansen M., Stålhammar H., Lindmark-Månsson H., Paulsson M., Fikse W. F. and Glantz M. Under Review.
- III. An investigation of the enzymatic cleavage of κ-casein in noncoagulating milk. Nilsson K., Abdelghani A., Burleigh S., Buhelt Johansen L., Lindmark-Månsson H., Paulsson M. and Glantz M. Under review.
- IV. Genetic parameters for non-coagulating milk, milk coagulation properties, and detailed milk composition in Swedish Red Dairy Cattle. Duchemin S., Nilsson K., Fikse W. F., Stålhammar H., Buhelt Johansen L., Stenholdt Hansen M., Lindmark-Månsson H., de Koning D.J., Paulsson M. and Glantz M. Under review.

The author's contribution to the papers

- I. The author designed the study together with the co-authors, performed the experimental work, evaluated the data with some of the co-authors, wrote the paper and revised the paper together with the co-authors.
- II. The author designed the study together with the co-authors, evaluated the data with some of the co-authors, wrote the paper and revised the paper together with the co-authors.
- III. The author designed the study together with the co-authors, performed the experimental work together with some of the co-authors, evaluated the data with one of the co-authors, wrote the paper and revised the paper together with the co-authors.
- IV. The author designed the study together with the co-authors, performed the experimental work together with some of the co-authors, wrote the paper with some of the co-authors and revised the paper together with the co-authors.

Abbreviations

General abbreviations

α-LA	α-lactalbumin
β-LG	β-lactoglobulin
σ_y	yield stress
AA	amino acid
Ca	calcium
CE	capillary electrophoresis
CFR	curd firming rate
CN	casein
СМР	caseinomacropeptide
DIM	days in milk
G'	gel strength (elastic modulus)
IMCU	international milk clotting units
LC-HRMS	liquid chromatography-high resolution mass spectrometry
NC	non-coagulating
NTM	Nordic total merit index
Р	phosphate
PC	poor coagulating
PLS	partial least square
PTM	post-translational modification
RCT	rennet coagulation time
RDC	red dairy cattle
SCC	somatic cell count

Amino acid abbreviations

Ala	Alanine
Arg	Arginine
Asn	Asparagine
Asp	Aspartate
Cys	Cysteine
Gln	Glutamine
Glu	Glutamate
Gly	Glycine
His	Histidine
Ile	Isoleucine
Leu	Leucine
Lys	Lysine
Met	Methionine
Phe	Phenylalanine
Pro	Proline
Ser	Serine
Thr	Threonine
Trp	Tryptophan
Tyr	Tyrosine
Val	Valine

Amino acid abbreviations will hereafter be used in all upcoming text.

Introduction

Background to present PhD thesis

Dairy products are a major food source worldwide and in 2018, the total cow milk production was 704 billion kg (International Dairy Federation, 2019). During the same year in Sweden 2,794,000 tonnes of milk were produced and from this, 82,000 tonnes of cheese were processed (International Dairy Federation, 2019). It takes about 10 kg of milk to produce 1 kg of cheese (Walstra et al., 2006), which means that about 30% of the milk in Sweden was used for cheese production. The coagulation ability of milk is crucial, as this is the first of many steps in cheese production and thereby provides the foundation for further processing. Cheese production is regulated by time, and therefore a rapid coagulation is desired as this is more likely to result in a firmer cheese gel before cutting the curd. A firmer gel leads to a higher yield, as a soft gel can lead to losses of fat and casein (CN) to the whey phase, when the curd is cut (Bynum and Olson, 1982). Arla Foods, the largest dairy company in Sweden, and the 7th largest worldwide (International Dairy Federation, 2019), has a major focus on sustainability and environmental impact. As part of this, there is a desire to minimise addition of additives during production. Thus, it is crucial to make sure that Swedish milk is of good quality for cheese production to ensure a satisfying yield and processing time.

Swedish Red Dairy Cattle (RDC) is a mixed breed of Swedish Red, Finnish Ayrshire, Norwegian Red, Danish Red and Canadian Ayrshire, and is the second largest dairy breed in Sweden, corresponding to about 35% of the total dairy cattle population. The Swedish RDC has a low frequency of stillborn calves and is associated with less udder diseases compared to other breeds (Växa Sverige, 2019), as well as less pregnancy losses compared to Swedish Holstein (Nyman et al., 2018). A recent study has shown that crossbreeding Nordic Red sires with Holstein dams improved health traits such as udder health, fertility, stillbirth and survival, compared to pure Holstein cows (Clasen et al., 2019). These positive health factors, together with high yields of protein and fat in the milk, contributes to its popularity in both the Nordic countries as well as worldwide (Växa Sverige, 2019).

The Swedish-Danish milk genomics initiative was a collaboration between Swedish and Danish universities and companies in 2009-2013. The objectives within the initiative were to combine milk properties and genetic information from three

Scandinavian breeds, Danish Holstein, Danish Jersey and Swedish Red, to identify markers that could be used in future breeding. The focus was on functionality, health properties, and milk composition where blood and milk samples were analysed from around 400 cows from each breed. Collaborating partners were Lund University, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Aarhus University, VikingGenetics, Arla Foods and LRF Dairy Sweden. One of the projects within the Swedish-Danish milk genomics initiative was to determine rennet-induced coagulation ability of individual Swedish Red cows. During that project, it was found that a large fraction (18%) of the cows produced non-coagulating (NC) milk (Gustavsson et al., 2014a). If the frequency of NC milk in this breed is not decreased, there is a risk that Swedish RDC will reduce in competitiveness and that there will be a reduction in the demand for Swedish RDC semen worldwide. This will in turn have negative effects on the genetic conservation. Additionally, since Swedish RDC constitutes 35% of dairy cattle in Sweden, and 30% of the milk in Sweden is used for cheese production, it will also have economic losses for dairy companies. Therefore, it was decided by the Swedish universities together with the industry partners to start a new project that would investigate NC milk from Swedish RDC more thorough and discover possible explanations as well as future breeding goals to reduce the frequency of NC milk. The project was named "Genomic selection against non-coagulating milk" and this thesis is a part of that project.

Hypothesis

By sampling a larger set of cows from the Swedish RDC, it is possible to determine whether the frequency of cows producing NC milk is still high for this breed. Further, by analysing the composition of the milk and by comparing this with the coagulation ability, it is possible to distinguish certain compounds that are common or uncommon in NC milk, i.e. to find phenotypic markers for NC milk. The effect of these identified markers on nutrition and process properties can thereafter be theorised for possible selection strategies. Lastly, by combining the phenotypic information with genetic parameters in the milk, it is possible to give breeding suggestions to the industry that could reduce the frequency of NC milk, without having a negative effect on nutrition and processability of the milk.

Aim

The aim of this thesis has been to study the coagulation ability of milk from Swedish RDC, focusing primarily on NC milk. The overall aim is to use the obtained knowledge about milk traits in NC milk to be able to find markers that can be used in the breeding industry to reduce the frequency of cows producing NC milk. More specific aims have been to:

- determine the current frequency of cows producing NC milk within Swedish RDC (paper I)
- investigate the composition of NC milk to explore possible explanations of the NC milk behaviour (paper I, II, III, IV)
- further investigate the detailed protein composition of NC milk, including genetic variants and post-translational modifications (PTM; **paper II**)
- determine where in the coagulation process the inability of coagulation occurs, by investigation of the enzymatic cleavage of κ-CN (**paper III**)
- estimate heritability and genetic correlations for NC milk and milk composition (paper IV)
- identify markers in NC milk that can be used by breeding companies in order to reduce the frequency of the undesired NC trait (**paper I, II, III, IV**)

The results obtained in this thesis can be used to strengthen the competitiveness of Swedish RDC by ensuring profitable and multifunctional milk, useful for several dairy products. This contributes to an increased economic gain for stakeholders and a more sustainable dairy production.

Milk composition

Bovine milk is a nutritious fluid with an average composition of 4.0% fat, 3.3% protein, 4.6% lactose, 0.7% mineral substances and 0.2% organic acids (Walstra et al., 2006). The composition is, however, very individual and differs due to environmental, physiological and genetic factors. An example of an environmental factor is herd, where feeding practices and milking intervals differs between herds. Physiological differences are for example lactation stage and illnesses, while a genetic factor is breed. The composition of milk is important both for the nutritional value and for the processability (Walstra et al., 2006; Fox et al., 2015).

Protein composition

There are six main proteins in bovine milk, divided into whey proteins: α -lactalbumin (α -LA) and β -lactoglobulin (β -LG), and CN proteins: α_{s1} -CN, α_{s2} -CN, β -CN, and κ -CN. Within these proteins, there are variations in the amino acid (AA) sequences, resulting in different genetic variants of the same protein. All six proteins have a different number of known genetic variants, and the variants are not the same for all cow breeds (Caroli et al., 2009). Additionally, milk proteins are subjected to natural chemical processes where other molecules are bound to the protein, and these are called post-translational modifications (PTM). All CN proteins are subjected to different degree of phosphorylation and κ -CN can also have different number of glycosylation. PTM occurs on two AA, Ser and Thr (Farrell et al., 2004). Genetic variants and PTM of proteins mean that the protein profile between individual cows can have a large variation. Different genetic variants of milk proteins found in domesticated cattle (*Bos taurus*), together with average mass and UniProtID, can be seen in Table 1 (Farrell et al., 2004; Caroli et al., 2009; Martin et al., 2013; Huppertz et al., 2018).

Whey proteins

The two main whey proteins α -LA and β -LG constitutes about 14% of total milk proteins (Walstra et al., 2006). In milk, α -LA has an important part in the production of lactose by modification of the substrate specificity of the enzyme that forms lactose from glucose and galactose (Permyakov and Berliner, 2000; Farrell et al., 2004). Additionally, α -LA is known to have a strong binding site for Ca²⁺ (Hiraoka et al., 1980; Permyakov and Berliner, 2000; Walstra et al., 2006). α -LA in milk from *Bos taurus* cattle have two genetic variants, A or B, where variant B is the most common form (Caroli et al., 2009; Visker et al., 2012). The average mass for variant α -LA B is 14,186 Da (Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics, 2020a; Table 1).

Table 1. Descriptive information about the six most common milk proteins.

Differences in structure and mass between genetic variants that can be found in Bos taurus as well as their UniProtID.

Protein	Genetic variants	Average mass (Da) ¹	UniProtID	Abundant form
α-LA	A: Arg₁₀ → Gln B: reference	14,158 14,186	P00711	α-LA B
β-LG	A: $Gly_{64} \rightarrow Asp; Ala_{118} \rightarrow Val$ B: reference C: $Gln_{59} \rightarrow His$ D: $Glu_{45} \rightarrow Gln$ H: $Gly_{64} \rightarrow Asp; Ly_{870} \rightarrow Asn; Ala_{118} \rightarrow Val$ I: $Glu_{108} \rightarrow Gly$ J: $Pro_{126} \rightarrow Leu$ W: $Ile_{56} \rightarrow Leu$	18,367 18,281 18,272 18,280 18,209 18,353 18,265 18,281	P02754	β-LG B
α _{s1} -CN	A: Deletion ₁₄₋₂₆ B: reference C: Glu ₁₉₂ \rightarrow Gly D: Ala ₅₃ \rightarrow ThrP F: SerP ₆₆ \rightarrow Leu H: Deletion ₅₁₋₅₈ I: Glu ₈₆ \rightarrow Asp; Glu ₁₉₂ \rightarrow Gly	22,055 23,614 23,542 23,664 (9P) 23,668 (7P) 22,684 23,700	P02662	α _{s1} -CN B 8P
α _{s2} -CN	A: reference B: SerP ₈ → Phe C: Glu ₃₃ → Gly; Ala ₄₇ → Thr; Thr ₁₃₀ → Ile D: Deletion ₅₁₋₅₉	25,228 25,208 (10P) 25,198 24,033 (8P)	P02663	α _{s2} -CN A 11P
β-CN	$\begin{array}{l} A^1\colon \operatorname{Pro}_{67} \to \operatorname{His};\\ A^2\colon \operatorname{reference}\\ A^3\colon \operatorname{His}_{106} \to \operatorname{Gln}\\ B\colon \operatorname{Pro}_{67} \to \operatorname{His}; \operatorname{Ser}_{122} \to \operatorname{Arg}\\ C\colon \operatorname{SerP}_{35} \to \operatorname{Ser}; \operatorname{Glu}_{37} \to \operatorname{Lys}; \operatorname{Pro}_{67} \to \operatorname{His}\\ D\colon \operatorname{SerP}_{18} \to \operatorname{Lys}\\ E\colon \operatorname{Glu}_{36} \to \operatorname{Lys};\\ F\colon \operatorname{Pro}_{67} \to \operatorname{His}; \operatorname{Pro}_{152} \to \operatorname{Leu}\\ G\colon \operatorname{Pro}_{67} \to \operatorname{His}; \operatorname{Pro}_{138} \to \operatorname{Leu}\\ \operatorname{H}^1\colon \operatorname{Arg}_{25} \to \operatorname{Cys}; \operatorname{Leu}_{88} \to \operatorname{Ile}\\ \operatorname{H}^2: \operatorname{Gln}_{72} \to \operatorname{Glu}; \operatorname{Met}_{93} \to \operatorname{Leu}\\ \operatorname{I:} \operatorname{Met}_{93} \to \operatorname{Leu}\\ \operatorname{I:} \operatorname{Met}_{93} \to \operatorname{Leu}\\ \end{array}$	24,023 23,983 23,992 24,092 23,942 (4P) 24,025 (4P) 23,982 24,039 23,927 23,930 23,894 23,965	P022666	β-CN A2 5P
K-CN	A: reference B: Thr ₁₃₆ \rightarrow Ile; Asp ₁₄₈ \rightarrow Ala C: Arg ₉₇ \rightarrow His; Thr ₁₃₆ \rightarrow Ile; Asp ₁₄₈ \rightarrow Ala D: Arg ₉₇ \rightarrow His E: Ser ₁₅₅ \rightarrow Gly F ¹ : Asp ₁₄₈ \rightarrow Val F ² : Arg ₁₀ \rightarrow His; Thr ₁₃₆ \rightarrow Ile; Asp ₁₄₈ \rightarrow Ala G ¹ : Arg ₉₇ \rightarrow Cys; Thr ₁₃₆ \rightarrow Ile; Asp ₁₄₈ \rightarrow Ala G ² : Asp ₁₄₈ \rightarrow Ala H: Thr ₁₃₆ \rightarrow Ile; I: Ser ₁₀₄ \rightarrow Ala J: Thr ₁₃₆ \rightarrow Ile; Asp ₁₄₈ \rightarrow Ala; Ser ₁₅₅ \rightarrow Arg	19,037 19,005 19,088 19,018 19,007 19,021 18,986 18,952 18,993 19,049 19,021 19,074	P022668	к-CN A 1Р

¹The average masses are without the signal peptide and includes the most common phosphorylation form of that protein. Masses have been calculated using tools provided by Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics (Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics, 2020a; b).

 β -LG is the most abundant whey protein (Farrell et al., 2004), and its AA composition has high nutritional value. Further, β -LG also has the ability to bind several molecules, such as vitamin D, fatty acids and retinoids (Farrell et al., 2004; Sawyer, 2013). For β -LG, at least eight different genetic variants have been found

in *Bos taurus* cattle (Table 1), where the two main variants are β -LG A and B (Farrell et al., 2004; Caroli et al., 2009). The average mass is 18,281 Da for β -LG B (Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics, 2020a) and 18,367 for β -LG A (Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics, 2020b; Table 1).

Casein proteins

The CN proteins have a role as ion carriers and sources of bioactive peptides in milk (Berry et al., 2014). With the proper amount of amorphous CaP nanoclusters, the CN proteins will aggregate into CN micelles (Holt et al., 2013), which will further be discussed in the next section. α_{s1} -CN constitutes about 40% of total CN content in milk (Huppertz et al., 2018) and have several genetic variants that can be found in *Bos taurus* cattle (A, B, C, D, F, H, and I) (Caroli et al., 2009). Additionally, α_{s1} -CN has two common phosphorylation isoforms 8 and 9 phosphate (**P**) (Farrell et al., 2004), and a more uncommon 7P isoform (Léonil et al., 1995). The reference protein is α_{s1} -CN B 8P (Farrell et al., 2004), that has an average mass of 23,614 Da (Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics, 2020a). About 10% of CN are α_{s2} -CN (Huppertz et al., 2018) and this is the most phosphorylated CN protein (Farrell et al., 2004). Additionally, four different genetic variants (A, B, C, and D) are known (Caroli et al., 2009) and the reference protein is α_{s2} -CN A 11P (Huppertz et al., 2018) with an average mass of 25,228 Da (Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics, 2020a).

β-CN is the second most abundant CN protein, and constitutes approximately 35% of CN (Huppertz et al., 2018). β-CN have several genetic variants in *Bos taurus* cattle which can be seen in Table 1. The two most common variants are A¹ and A², where β-CN A² 5P is the reference (Huppertz et al., 2018), which has a mass of 23,983 Da (Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics, 2020a). The difference between A¹ and A² has been said to be one AA where A¹ has a His instead of Pro on position 67 (Farrell et al., 2004). However, there is currently a discussion weather also Glu on position 117 has switch place with Gln on position 175 and that Leu on position 137 has switched place with Pro on position 138, which is reported in the UniProtKB database (UniProtKB, 2020). However, as the AA have switched positions, this does not affect the mass and thereby not the quantification made in this thesis but may affect the structure of the protein. β-CN is the most hydrophobic of the CN proteins, affecting its positioning in the CN micelle (Farrell et al., 2004).

 κ -CN differs from the other three by having a lower mass, being less phosphorylated and the only CN protein that can be glycosylated (Huppertz et al., 2018). Three phosphorylation forms are known, 1P to 3P and according to literature, κ -CN can be glycosylated with up to 6 glycans (Huppertz et al., 2018), where about 50% of the κ -CN molecules are glycosylated (Vreeman et al., 1986). There are five known glycans that can attach to κ -CN (Saito and Itoh, 1992; Farrell et al., 2004; Huppertz et al., 2018) and these can be seen in Table 2, together with structure, mass, and reported relative percentage based on Saito and Itoh (1992). The labels in Table 2 will hereafter be used in this thesis to describe the glycans. Like β -CN, there are several genetic variants for κ -CN (Table 1), were the two most common ones are A and B that have a mass of 19,037 and 19,005 Da, respectively (Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics, 2020a; b).

Table 2. Glycans that can attach to κ-casein.

The labels for which the glycans will be referred to, the name, structure, mass, as well as reported percentage.

Label	Glycan		Mass (Da)	Reported %
а	GalNAc	Monosaccharide	221.2	0.8
b	Galβ(1-3)GalNAc	Disaccharide	383.3	6.3
с	NeuAcα(2-3)Galβ(1-3)GalNAc	Trisaccaride (linear)	674.6	18.4
d	Galβ(1-3)[NeuAcα(2-6)]GalNAc	Trisaccaride (branched)	674.6	18.5
е	NeuAca(2-3)Galβ(1-3)[NeuAca(2-6)]GalNAc	Tetrasaccaride	965.6	56.0

Abbreviations used: galactose (Gal), N-acetylglucosamine (GalNAc), and neuraminic acid (NeuAc).

Casein micelles

The CN proteins self-assembles into colloidal structures called CN micelles, which are roughly spherical with a diameter between 50-600 nm (Holt et al., 2003; Walstra et al., 2006; O'Mahony and Fox, 2014). The structure of the CN micelle has been studied for many years and several models have been suggested (e.g. Horne, 2006; Walstra et al., 2006; Dalgleish and Corredig, 2012; Holt et al., 2013; Huppertz et al., 2017). However, common knowledge of the micelles is that α_{s1} -CN, α_{s2} -CN, and β-CN are distributed in the micelle together with nanoclusters of amorphous CaP, while mainly K-CN is on the surface of the micelle with hydrophilic parts dispersed into the serum phase. This layer of K-CN result in steric and electrostatic repulsion between the micelles, preventing them from aggregating (Walstra et al., 2006; Huppertz et al., 2018). Further, CN micelles have a dynamic structure and composition that changes with external conditions such as temperature and pH, where the micelle and the serum phase exchange compounds (Walstra et al., 2006). Also, the CN micelle size differs with factors such as individual cow, protein content, genetic variants of proteins, and glycosylation of k-CN (Devold et al., 2000; Bijl et al., 2014; Huppertz et al., 2018).

CN micelle size distribution can be measured using static light scattering, as was done in this thesis (**Paper I**). The advantages with the method are that it is fast, requires small volumes and the only pre-treatment needed is de-fatting of the milk. However, the drawback with the method is that large particles, for example remaining fat globules, may overlap smaller particles as a result of the static measurement, and thereby block the signal. As static light scattering measures the average intensity (which is proportional to the diameter) during the measurement, a large particle will affect the average intensity (Wishard and Gibb, 2019).

Analytical techniques for protein determination

Protein composition can be determined in several ways. In this thesis, liquid chromatography-high resolution mass spectrometry (LC-HRMS; Paper II, III, IV) and capillary electrophoresis (CE; Paper III) were used, and both methods have previously been used for investigation of milk proteins and peptides (Otte et al., 1997; Rauh et al., 2015; Jørgensen et al., 2016). The LC-HRMS was used to determine the content of different proteins in the milk samples as can be seen in Figure 1. LC separates proteins based on their affinity with the stationary phase of the column (Harris, 2010). Even though some gentic variants can be determined in the chromatograms from the LC (Figure 1), the LC was coupled to a MS were multiple variants and PTM can be detemined using the masses of each protein. A MS transformes molecules into gas-phase ions that are accelerated by an electric field and thereafter separates them based on mass-to-charge ratio. The mass-tocharge ratio is then processed in to a mass spectra (Harris, 2010). The mass spectras can thereafter be compared to databases with known protein masses (Steen and Mann, 2004). In this thesis, the database UniProtKB, which is a collaboration between European Bioinformatics Institute, Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics and Protein Information Resource, was used (UniProt Consortium, 2019).



Retention time (min)

Figure 1 Chromatogram of proteins and genetic variants that can be detected using liquid chromatography. Four different samples are presented. Abbreviations used: casein (CN), glycosylated (gly), α -lactalbumin (α -LA), and β -lactoglobulin (β -LG).

Genetic variants can be determined in both milk and blood samples. By determining the genetic variants in milk, as was done in this thesis (**Paper II**), it is possible to determine the expressed amount of protein, instead of only determining the coding genes. This gives a more accurate result of genetic variants in each individual cow.

The CE was used to detect peptide products after chymosin cleavage in both coaulating and NC milk, as can be seen in Figure 2. In CE, proteins are separated by applying voltage and since different ions have different mobilites, the proteins will migrate through the capillary at different speeds (Harris, 2010). The protein is then separated based on differences in charge-to-mass ratio (Otte et al., 1997).



Time (min)



The electropherogram is from Paper III. Abbreviations used: casein (CN) and caseinomacropeptide (CMP).

Cheese production

Cheese has been produced for thousands of years by either letting milk become sour or by adding rennet. Both these techniques will result in the aggregation of CN micelles together with fat, while water, lactose, and whey proteins are expelled in the whey (Walstra et al., 2006). Until the 19th century, cheese production was farm-based and is still produced at an artisanal level today. However, most cheeses are produced in large scales using highly developed techniques (Fox et al., 2017b). Even if there are many cheese varieties, several of the processing steps are general. The production of an industrial hard cheese is initiated by standardisation of the milk to control the fat content. After this, the milk is pasteurised, in order to reduce microorganisms. Thereafter, the milk is acidified by addition of a starter culture, and rennet is added which initiate proteolysis. This will result in coagulation into a cheese gel that is eventually cut into cheese grains. The grains are thereafter moulded and often pressed, resulting in a fresh cheese, while the serum phase (whey) is expelled. The fresh cheese is usually salted and left for ripening (maturation). During ripening, the cheese develops its characteristic flavour and texture due to decomposition of milk fat, lactose and proteins. After ripening, the final product of a mature cheese is obtained (Fox et al., 2017b). This thesis has been focused on the first part of cheese production: the coagulation of milk into a cheese gel. This is the most critical production step as it provides a foundation for further processing.

Rennet-induced coagulation

Rennet is an enzyme mixture found in stomachs of ruminant animals and constitutes of two enzymes, chymosin and pepsin, in different ratios. Rennet is used to produce cheese from milk, were the first step is to add rennet and thereby start the rennetinduced coagulation process. The coagulation can be divided into two major stages, the enzymatic stage and the aggregation stage. In the enzymatic stage, chymosin cleaves κ -CN primarily at the bond between Phe₁₀₅-Met₁₀₆. Thereby, κ -CN is divided into two peptides, para- κ -CN (residues 1-105) and caseinomacropeptide (CMP; residues 106-169), where the CMP will diffuse away from the micelle to the serum phase (Walstra et al., 2006; Lucey, 2009; Fox et al., 2017b). This leads to a reduction in the zeta potential of the CN micelles and removal of the hydrophilic CMP, thus eliminating both the electrostatic and steric micelle-stabilizing factors. When approximately 85% of the κ -CN has been hydrolysed, the reduction in stability will lead to collisions between micelles (Fox et al., 2017b) and the aggregation stage starts, were the micelles start interacting with each other (Walstra et al., 2006; Lucey, 2009; Fox et al., 2017b). A basic drawing of the two stages can be seen in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Basic drawing of the coagulation process. The two stages of the coagulation process, the enzymatic stage (stage 1) and the aggregation stage (stage 2). In stage 1, K-casein is cleaved into para-k-casein and caseinomacropeptide by chymosin, causing the caseinomacropeptide to diffuse away in to the whey phase. Thereafter, the casein miceles will aggregate in to a gel in stage 2.

The two stages are affected by different physico-chemical properties. The enzymatic stage is affected by pH, ionic strength, temperature, rennet concentration, CN content and heat treatment of milk (Lucey, 2009; Fox et al., 2017b). The aggregation stage is also affected by temperature, pH, and content of CN, as well as by contents of ionic Ca and denatured whey proteins (Lucey, 2009).

Similar to milk composition, milk coagulation properties are influenced by both genetic and environmental factors such as breed, somatic cell count (SCC), protein and CN composition as well as stage of lactation (Okigbo et al., 1985; Tyrisevä et al., 2004; Cassandro et al., 2008; Bittante et al., 2012). Milk coagulation properties are also heritable and can be improved by selective breeding (Ikonen et al., 2004). Milk coagulation properties can be determined using several different techniques and can be either mechanical or optical (Troch et al., 2017). In this thesis, two different mechanical rheometer systems were used (Paper I). All samples were analysed in duplicates using free oscillation and half of the samples were randomly selected for further analyses using low amplitude oscillation. The advantage of using the free oscillation rheometer on all milk samples was the four sample chambers that could be analysed simultaneously. Thus, this instrument provided a time saving screening procedure where duplicates could be measured, yielding more reliable results. Another benefit with the free oscillation rheometer is the small sample requirement of only 1 mL. However, a drawback is that this instrument could not measure the stability of the obtained gel. This was instead done in the lowamplitude rheometer. By using two methods, the obtained results can also be compared to several other studies where one of the instruments have been used.

However, exact comparisons can rarely be made with rennet-induced coagulation studies due to different procedures.

From the free oscillation rheometer, the following parameters were obtained: rennet coagulation time (RCT), curd firming rate (CFR), and gel strength (G'). RCT can be determined using different approaches, such as the time after rennet addition to the onset of increase in viscosity (Amenu and Deeth, 2007). Another way is by measuring the elastic and viscous moduli obtained by measuring rheological properties. The elastic modulus describes milk behaviour as an elastic solid and can thereby be translated into gel strength, whereas the viscous modulus describes a viscous liquid. The relationship between these phases is described by the phase angle (δ), where the liquid phase dominates when $\delta > 45^{\circ}$ and the solid phase when $\delta < 45^{\circ}$. Therefore, RCT can be expressed as the time when milk goes from a viscous liquid to an elastic solid at $\delta = 45^{\circ}$ (Horne and Lucey, 2017), and this definition was used from the free oscillation rheometer. CFR was defined as the rate of gel formation during the measuring time. An example curve from the free oscillation rheometer and the obtained parameters from the measurement can be seen in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Example curve from the free oscillation rheometer. Phase angle is light grey while elastic modulus is dark grey. Parameters obtained from the free oscillation rheometer are the following: 1. Rennet coagulation time = the time when the phase angle is 45°, 2. Curd firming rate = the rate of gel formation, 3. G'max = maximum gel strength.

From the low-amplitude rheometer, the following parameters were obtained: RCT, G' and yield stress (σ_y). From this measurement, RCT was defined as when G' started to increase continuously. To investigate the firmness of the obtained gel, a stress sweep was preformed after the coagulation in the low-amplitude rheometer.

During the stress sweep, the shear stress was increased until the gel no longer remains solid and the gel thereby becomes liquid again. σ_y was defined as the shear stress when the viscosity reached 90% of the maximum recorded viscosity in the performed stress sweep. The obtained parameters will thereby explain different parts of the rennet-induced coagulation and contribute to an overall understanding of the process. Example curves from the gel formation and stress sweep in the low-amplitude rheometer can be seen in Figure 5. To summarise, by using two instruments and by measuring different parameters in the two systems, the coagulation study (**Paper I**) provided valuable information regarding the coagulation ability of milk from Swedish RDC.



Figure 5. Example curves from the low-amplitude rheometer. Coagulation curve to the left and stress sweep to the right. Parameters obtained from the low-amplitude rheometer are: 1. Rennet coagulation time = the time when elastic modulus starts to increase continously, 2. G'_{40} = gel strength after 40 minutes, 3. σ_y = the stress when 90% of maximum viscosity is obtained.

Non-coagulating milk

Even if rennet-induced coagulation is a result of bio-chemical processes in stomachs of ruminants, there is milk that does not coagulate after rennet addition, which is defined as NC milk. There is no universal definition of NC milk, and therefore studies differ when determining this trait and Table 3 shows some different definitions used for NC milk. It is not only definitions that varies between studies, but also the pre-treatment of the samples prior to analysis, as well as the processing parameters. For example, NC milk has been found in both skim (Frederiksen et al., 2011; Jensen et al., 2012; Gustavsson et al., 2014b) and whole milk (Ikonen et al., 2004; Cassandro et al., 2008; Malacarne et al., 2014), pH adjusted samples (Frederiksen et al., 2011; Jensen et al., 2011; Jensen et al., 2012), and using preservatives (Gustavsson et al., 2014b). Further, the temperature during coagulation has varied between 32-35°C (Ikonen et al., 2004; Frederiksen et al., 2011; Gustavsson et al., 2011; Gustavsson et al., 2012; Gustavsson et al., 2011; Gustavsson et al., 2014b) and both pure chymosin (Frederiksen et al., 2011; Jensen et al., 2011; Gustavsson et al., 2014b) and a mixture of chymosin and pepsin (Ikonen et al., 2004; Cassandro et al., 2014b)

2008) has been used. This makes it difficult to compare studies of NC milk and to determine an exact frequency of NC milk. However, since NC milk is found in several different studies, it proves that NC milk is a complex issue and that there should be a focus on minimising it.

Definition of NC samples	Technique used	Reference
RCT ≥ 40	Rheometry (ReoRox4)	Paper I
CFR = 0; G' _{max} = 0	Rheometry (ReoRox4)	(Jensen et al., 2012)
RCT > 40; CFR < 10; No curd	Rheometry (ReoRox4)	(Frederiksen et al., 2011)
RCT > 40; G' ₄₀ = 0	Rheometry (Stresstech)	(Gustavsson et al., 2014b)
RCT > 40; G' ₁₅ = 0; No curd after 30 min	Rheometry (Bohlin)	(Wedholm et al., 2006)
E30 = 0	Milk coagulation meter (Polotrade)	(Ikonen et al., 2004)
RCT ≥ 29.45, < 100; a ₃₀ < 100	Lactodynamograph (Formagraph)	(Malacarne et al., 2014)
RCT > 31	Computerised renneting meter (Polo Trade)	(Cassandro et al., 2008)

Table 3. Definitions of non-coagulating (NC) milk samples used in different studies. Definitions as well as techniques used.

Abbreviations and units used: RCT = Rennet coagulation time (min); CFR = curd firming time (Pa/min); G' = gel strength (Pa); a = curd firmness (mm), where the subscript number means time after rennet addition in min. The studies that used "No curd" used oculary evaluation.

A common difference regarding the definition of NC milk is whether 30 or 40 min should be used as measuring time (Table 3). From an industrial perspective, 30 minutes is of course more beneficial as the process is optimised by time. However, by extending the measuring time and thereby the definition to 40 minutes, more definite NC samples will be detected, and the results will therefore be more reliable.

Using rheometry, as was done in this thesis (**Paper I**), NC milk samples can be distinguished by the lack of increase in gel strength during the time of the recording. Figure 6 shows examples of one coagulating sample and one NC milk sample, both recorded from the low-amplitude rheometer.



Figure 6. Coagulation curves from coagulating milk sample (grey) and non-coagulating milk sample (green). Gel strength was measured over time in a low-amplitude rheometer. Rennet coagulation time is determined as when the gel strength starts to increase continously, meaning that non-coagulating milk does not fulfill the requirment during the measuring time.

Most studies have investigated NC milk from individual cows, which makes it hard to know the consequences of NC milk in an industrial cheese production. However, in Malacarne et al. (2014) coagulation ability of herd bulk milk samples were investigated. They found that 6% of the herds, where SCC was < 400,000 cells/mL, produced NC milk, and as much as 35% of the herds when SCC was > 400,000cells/mL (Malacarne et al., 2014). SCC is used as an indication for infections in cows and is often implemented as a factor in milk price at the dairies. Arla Foods will reduce the payment to the farmers when the SCC is > 301,000 cells/mL on farm level (Arla Foods, 2019). The results from Malacarne et al. (2014) show that some NC milk may be due to infections in the cows, but not all NC milk. Further, Frederiksen et al. (2011) investigated RCT and CFR of NC milk combined with well coagulating milk. With only 5% NC milk, the CFR started to decrease and with 25% NC milk, the RCT started to increase (Frederiksen et al., 2011). Thus, the two studies by Malacarne et al. (2014) and Frederiksen et al. (2011) indicate that NC milk is an issue in bulk milk and thereby also an issue in an industrial cheese production. However, no study has followed NC milk in blended bulk milk to determine where the CN from NC milk ends up, trapped in the cheese coagulum or disposed in the whey.

Cow genetics

Breeding and heritability

Breeding of dairy cattle is an essential factor for ensuring technological and nutritional quality of milk. In Sweden, Denmark, and Finland, there is a joint calculation of breeding values, known as Nordic total merit index (NTM). NTM describes the economic potential determined by genes, where cows with high NTM means a larger economic profit for the farmer. Some of the traits in NTM are fertility, udder health, and young stock survival (Nordic Cattle Genetic Evaluation, 2020). By breeding for certain phenotypes, there is a possibility to add value in the milk by for example breed for proteins with a high nutritional value for humans or breed for certain antibodies that can protect calves from colonisation of unwanted gut microbiota (Berry et al., 2014). However, the main focus in this thesis is processability of milk which will therefore be the main consideration.

Heritability can be defined as the strength of the relationship between genetic merit and observed performance (Berry et al., 2019). Heritability is calculated as the genetic variance divided by the phenotypic variance. However, as the phenotypic variance is also dependent on genetics, it is often expressed as the genetic variance plus the residual variance (**Paper IV**). Heritability impacts selection accuracy but a low heritability does not mean that the trait cannot be used in breeding, but suggests that more information about the trait is needed (Berry et al., 2019). By estimating the heritability of different phenotypic traits in milk, it gives an indication about how that phenotype can be used in breeding. Heritability of numerous compositional and productional traits have been estimated (e.g. Ikonen et al., 2004; Cecchinato et al., 2011; Sanchez et al., 2018), and an estimated heritability of 0.45 for NC milk has previously been reported (Gustavsson et al., 2014c). Thereby, it is suggested that NC milk is inherited and may therefore increase between generations if no actions are implemented.

Milk genomics

Sequencing of the bovine genome was finished in 2005. The sequencing allows for the field of milk genomics, where bovine genes are correlated to milk traits and the genes can thereby be used in genomic selection (Berry et al., 2014). Genomic selection enables to add more phenotypic traits in the breeding strategies, without having to determine the phenotype in each animal (Boichard and Brochard, 2012). Instead, genes coding for a specific phenotype can be identified and screened in dams or sires to determine which individuals to use in order to breed for a specific trait. The bovine genome consists of 29 autosomes plus the X and Y chromosomes, and over 26,000 genes are predicted (Berry et al., 2014).



Figure 7. Direct and indirect genetic effects on milk coagulation properties. The figure is from Bittante et al. (2012).

In order to modify milk protein composition in milk, detailed knowledge in both structure and genes is needed (Berry et al., 2014). The genes coding for the four CN proteins are closely linked in a 250-kilobasepair cluster on chromosome 6, while the genes coding for α -LA and β -LG are found on chromosome 5 and 11, respectively (Caroli et al., 2009; Martin et al., 2013). Figure 7 shows that protein composition, as well as other milk traits have both direct and indirect genetic effects on milk coagulation properties (Bittante et al., 2012), which can be used in breeding.

Prevalence of non-coagulating milk

Non-coagulating milk in Swedish Red Dairy Cattle

In this thesis, milk was collected from 724 cows from the Swedish RDC breed. In order to fully determine the frequency of NC milk samples, certain experimental conditions were applied. Prior to addition of chymosin, the milk samples were pH adjusted to 6.5 to standardise the pH-value, but also to chemically imitate the acidification of a starter culture (**Paper I**). A lower pH value has previously been linked with faster coagulation (Nájera et al., 2003), which means that the NC milk samples obtained would not be due to a too high pH. Additionally, the concentration of added chymosin (CHY-MAX Plus, Chr Hansen A/S, Hørsholm, Denmark) was 0.09 international milk clotting units (IMCU)/mL milk sample, which is higher than normally used in cheese production. The recommended dosage of CHY-MAX Plus is between 0.03-0.06 IMCU/mL milk (Chr Hansen, 2013). A higher concentration of rennet reduces coagulation time (Bittante et al., 2012). By this, the high frequency of NC milk samples can also be discarded as being an effect of low rennet concentration.

Even when these conditions were applied, 18.1% of the milk samples could still be defined as NC and 18.9% as poor coagulating (PC). That results in a total of 37% of the milk being unsuitable for cheese production (**Paper I**). As explained earlier, definition of NC milk often varies between 30 or 40 min. In this thesis, 40 min was used, which again was to determine samples that had extreme NC behaviour. If the definition would have been lowered to 30 min, 21.2% instead of 18.1% would have be classified as NC milk. The high values of NC and PC milk are concerning for cheese production and shows that Swedish RDC is still a breed that has large amounts of milk that does not coagulate. However, it is hard to conclude the real effect of this high frequency in an industrial cheese production, since this has not been studied. Nevertheless, Frederiksen et al. (2011) showed that blending NC milk with well coagulating milk in different proportions results in impaired coagulation properties of bulk milk (Frederiksen et al., 2011). The high frequency of NC milk should therefore be treated as a serious issue and both dairies and breeding companies should focus on minimisation of NC milk.

Frequencies of NC milk found in other breeds are 18% in Red Danish 1970 (Poulsen et al., 2016), 16% in crossbreed of Swedish Red and Holstein (Malchiodi et al., 2014), 13% in Finnish Ayrshire (Ikonen et al., 2004), 6% in Alpine Grey, 4% in

Simmental (Stocco et al., 2017), 10% in Italian Holstein-Friesian and 4% in Brown swiss (Cecchinato et al., 2011), to name a few. However, the differences in frequencies cannot be compared directly as there are too many differences in the studies but provides an indication of the differences. Even so, Nordic red breeds, such as Swedish RDC, Danish Red 1970 and Finnish Ayrshire, seems to have higher frequencies than other breeds. Swedish RDC and Finnish Ayrshire are also related as they are both part of the VikingRed breeding program. Tyrisevä et al. (2003) reported that most of the cows that produced NC milk in their study, had common ancestors from Finnish Ayrshire, Norwegian Red and Canadian Ayrshire (Tyrisevä et al., 2003), which also shows the relationship between the breeds. To strengthen the competitiveness of the Nordic reds breeds in global breeding, it is important to reduce the high NC frequencies. Other studies have found both genetic and phenotypic correlations with NC milk and milk composition (Hallén et al., 2010; Bittante et al., 2012; Gustavsson et al., 2014c; Poulsen et al., 2016), suggesting that NC milk is caused by both genetic and environmental factors. Further, there have also been studies investigating chromosomes connected to NC milk, showing that a few chromosomes have association with NC milk (Tyrisevä et al., 2008; Duchemin et al., 2016). This suggests that there is potential in breeding against NC milk and this thesis has shown that the estimated heritability is 0.28 for NC milk (Paper IV).

Farm distribution

Even if NC milk has been a studied subject in different breeds, investigation of herd distribution is scarce. 31 farms were sampled in this project and the frequency of NC milk differed between them, which can be seen in Figure 8 (**Paper I**). As explained before, the current project is a continuation of the Swedish-Danish Milk Genomics Initiative where the coagulation ability in milk from Swedish Red cows was investigated. Even if the same breed was analysed, there was no overlap between farms in the two studies.

From Figure 8, it is clear that the distribution varies a lot between the farms, from 0% on five farms, up to almost 40% NC milk samples on one farm. The cows in this thesis had similar genetic background, as they all use sires from VikingGenetics in their breeding, which was one of the reasons they were chosen. The difference between farms despite similar genetic background is an indicator that the NC milk trait is a combination of both environmental and genetic factors. Tyrisevä et al. (2004) presented the frequency of cows producing NC milk from 20 of their 125 investigated herds. The results from those 20 herds showed that the frequency varied from 0-29% (Tyrisevä et al., 2004). Although Tyrisevä et al. (2004) had different breed distributions in the herds, it corresponds well with the theory that NC milk can be caused by a combination of genes and environment.



Figure 8. Distribution of cows producing non coagulating milk over the studied farms. The graph is addapted from Paper I.

Lactation and parity distribution

Other studies have suggested that NC milk is connected to parity and lactation of the cow (Ikonen et al., 2004; Wedholm et al., 2006; Malchiodi et al., 2014). Malchiodi et al. (2014) showed that the number of cows producing NC milk increased during lactation until day 240, when the frequency started to decrease again. Ikonen et al. (2004) also reported that the frequency of NC milk increased during lactation, but they observed a decrease after 210 days in milk (DIM). Additionally, the frequency of NC milk was higher than the average frequency between 91-210 DIM (Ikonen et al., 2004). Wedholm et al. (2006) found an association with less NC and PC samples in very late lactation, i.e. after 316 DIM. The distribution of NC milk over lactation in this thesis shows that the highest frequency was found with cows between 181 and 210 DIM (Figure 9). The frequency was also higher than the average of 18% between 91 and 210 DIM, agreeing with Ikonen et al (2004).



Figure 9. Frequency of non-coagulating samples distributed over lactation.

Tyrisevä et al. (2003) re-sampled cows multiple times during lactation. They observed that cows producing NC milk could be divided into two groups, with half of the cows in each group: cows that produced NC milk a few times and cows that almost always produced NC milk through lactation. The cows that only produced NC milk occasionally was in peak- or mid-lactation (Tyrisevä et al., 2003). This thesis was focused on individual cows and therefore each cow was sampled once. However, two cows producing NC milk were re-sampled and both cows produced NC milk again at the second sampling. On the first sampling they were 74 respectively 71 DIM and on the second occasion 129 respectively 127 DIM.

Regarding parity, Malchiodi et al. (2014) showed that there was a higher frequency of cows producing NC milk in parity 2 compared to parity 1 and \geq 3. Wedholm et al. (2006) found an association with more NC and PC milk samples in parity 1. Figure 10 shows the distribution of NC milk samples in different parity in this thesis. The results agree with Malchiodi et al. (2014), however, the frequency in parity 1 and 2 are almost the same.



Figure 10. Frequency of non-coagulating milk samples distributed over parity.

Even if there are some visual differences in the NC frequency between farm, lactation and parity in Figures 8, 9, and 10, no significant effect from herd, DIM or parity was detected in the generalised linear model in **Paper II**, where instead strong effects were found from protein composition. The strong effect from protein composition might be dominating in the model, and therefore there might still be effects from herd, DIM, and parity, but a smaller effect. As previously mentioned, herd and lactation stage has an impact on milk composition and thus protein content (Walstra et al., 2006), and will therefore have indirect effects on coagulation as well.

Composition of non-coagulating milk

In this thesis, several compositional parameters were measured and their relation to NC milk was evaluated in different ways. In **Paper I**, milk composition was compared between NC, PC and coagulating milk using a general linear model, where coagulation group was added as x-variable and the compositional traits were the y-variables. Additionally, the Pearson correlations with a binary NC milk trait was calculated. In **Paper II**, protein profile was determined and its impact on NC milk was evaluated using a generalised linear model where a binary NC trait was the y-variable and the protein amounts were x-variables. **Paper III** was focused on differences between extreme samples, i.e. samples that did not coagulate and samples with the shortest coagulation time. In **Paper II**, mean values between these two extreme groups were compared. In **Paper IV**, both genetic and phenotypic correlations with a binary NC trait were estimated. A summary of compositional parameters measured in the different papers can be seen in Table 4.

From Table 4, it becomes clear that NC milk is a complex issue that is influenced by several parameters. Most of the parameters investigated could be linked with NC milk in at least one of the papers. However, milk composition is complex and components in the milk are dependent on each other and some parameters might therefore only have indirect effects. During the work of this thesis, some of the parameters showed more prominent linkage with NC milk (Table 4) and will therefore be further discussed. Those parameters are: κ -CN, α -LA, as well as total and ionic Ca. Additionally, genetic variants of proteins that were determined in **Paper II** will also be addressed.

Table 4. Summary of different compositional parameters.

Parameters measured in this thesis, in which paper they were investigated, as well as eventual relation of parameter with non-coagulating (NC) milk.

Parameter	Paper	Relation with non-coagulating milk
Milk yield	I, III	Significant effect of coagulation group (Paper I) Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III)
SCC	I, IV	No
Fat content	I, III, IV	Significant phenotypic correlation (Paper I & Paper IV)
Lactose content	I, III, IV	Significant phenotypic correlation (Paper I) Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III)
Protein content	I, III, IV	Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III)
CN content	I, III, IV	Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III)
Ratio CN to protein	I, III	Significant phenotypic correlation (Paper I) Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III)
α_{s1} -CN content	II, III, IV	Significant effect from α_{s1} -CN 8P on NC milk (Paper II) Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III)
as2-CN content	II, III, IV	Significant genetic correlation (Paper IV)
β-CN content	II, III, IV	Significant effect on NC milk (Paper II) Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III) Significant phenotypic correlation (Paper IV)
κ-CN content	II, III, IV	Significant effect from total κ-CN and κ-CN 1P U.G. on NC milk (Paper II) Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III) Significant phenotypic correlation (Paper IV) Significant genetic correlation (Paper IV)
para-ĸ-CN content	III	Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III)
CMP content	III	No
Sum of whey proteins	IV	No
α-LA content	II, III, IV	Significant effect on NC milk (Paper II) Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III) Significant phenotypic correlation (Paper IV) Significant genetic correlation (Paper IV)
β-LG content	II, III, IV	Significant effect on NC milk (Paper II) Significant phenotypic correlation (Paper IV)
Total calcium content	I, III, IV	Significant effect of coagulation group (Paper I) Significant phenotypic correlation (Paper I & Paper IV) Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III) Significant genetic correlation (Paper IV)
Ionic calcium content	I, III, IV	Significant effect of coagulation group (Paper I) Significant phenotypic correlation (Paper I & Paper IV) Significant difference between extreme coagulation samples (Paper III)
Citric acid content	I, III, IV	No
рН	I, III, IV	No
CN micelle size	I, III, IV	No
Titratable acidity	1	Significant phenotypic correlation (Paper I)

Abbreviations used: somatic cell count (SCC), casein (CN), caseinomacropeptide (CMP), un-glycosylated (U. G.) α -lactalbumin (α -LA), β -lactoglobulin (β -LG).

Protein profile

Since the ratio of CN to protein could be correlated to NC milk, but not total protein or CN content (**Paper I**), it suggested that a more detailed protein composition would reveal valuable information, and the protein profile of the milk samples was therefore measured (**Paper II**). Several genetic variants and PTM were found in the milk samples, even if the results were limited to the most abundant proteins (**Paper II**). Figure 11 and Figure 12 shows which proteins that were detected in coagulating and NC samples, respectively.

Comparisons between Figure 11 and Figure 12 shows that less genetic variants and PTM could be detected in the NC milk samples, compared to coagulating samples. For the genetic variants, it was only β -CN B and I that were not found in the NC milk samples. Regarding both α_{s2} -CN and κ -CN, NC milk did not contain the highest phosphorylation isoforms, 14P and 3P respectively. Additionally, some of the glycosylation isoforms of κ -CN could also only be detected in coagulating milk samples. These were variant A 1P 1G (c/d), variant E 1P 2G (c/d, e), variant E 1P 2G (c/d, e), and variant E 2P 1G (e). However, the proteins that were not found in NC samples were only found in a small amount (five samples or less) of the coagulating samples (**Paper II**).

The investigation of protein profile using a generalised linear model showed that α -LA, β -LG, α_{s1} -CN 8P, β -CN, and κ -CN contents had significant impact on a binary NC milk trait. Odds ratios revealed that higher α -LA and β -CN contents in the milk increased the odds of having NC milk, while higher β -LG, α_{s1} -CN 8P, and κ -CN contents had the opposite effect (Paper II). Further, comparison of protein contents in a subset of extreme samples showed that there were significant differences in α_{s1} -CN, β -CN, κ -CN, and α -LA contents (Paper III). Additionally, α -LA and κ -CN contents had both phenotypic and genetic significant correlations with NC milk, while β -LG and β -CN contents only had phenotypic correlations and α_{s2} -CN only had a significant genetic correlation with NC milk (Paper IV). This suggests that the different proteins are contributing in different ways in NC milk, but α-LA and κ-CN seems to be more prominent than the other proteins. Linkage between higher α -LA and lower K-CN contents with NC milk agrees with other studies (Hallén et al., 2010; Jensen et al., 2012; Gustavsson et al., 2014c; Poulsen et al., 2017). As mentioned earlier, α -LA has a strong binding site for Ca ions and a higher α -LA content could therefore inhibit the Ca ions to participate in the aggregation stage. However, only a significant phenotypic negative correlation between total Ca and α-LA, and no correlations between ionic Ca and α -LA was found in this thesis (**Paper IV**).



Figure 11. Proteins detected in the coagulating milk samples.

Abbreviations used: casein (CN), α -lactalbumin (α -LA), β -lactoglubulin (β -LG), phosphorylation (P), and glycosylation (G). The letter in the light blue circles shows genetic variants while the letter in the bracket in the green circles refers to the label of each glucan, according to Table 2.



Figure 12. Proteins detected in the non-coagulating milk samples.

Abbreviations used: casein (CN), α -lactalbumin (α -LA), β -lactoglubulin (β -LG), phosphorylation (P), and glycosylation (G). The letter in the light blue circles shows genetic variants while the letter in the bracket in the green circles refers to the label of each glucan, according to Table 2.



Figure 13. Allele frequencies of the most abundant alleles found. Frequencies divided into coagulating (grey) and non-coagulating milk (green). Abbreviations used: casein (CN) and β-lactoglubulin (β-LG). The graph is adapted from data in Paper II.

Alleles and genotypes in the milk samples were also investigated and compared between NC and coagulating milk (**Paper II**), as well as a subgroup of extreme NC and coagulating samples (**Paper III**). Figures 13 and 14 shows the allele and genotype distribution, respectively, in NC and coagulating samples, where only alleles and genotypes found in >4% of the samples are presented.

Largest differences for the alleles can be seen for β -CN A¹ and β -CN A², where NC milk had higher A² and lower A¹ frequencies (Figure 13). Higher frequency of β -CN A² in NC milk agrees with other publications (Jensen et al., 2012; Gustavsson et al., 2014a; Poulsen et al., 2017), and investigation of the structural differences between A¹ and A² suggests that they have different behaviour as they may self-assemble differently (Raynes et al., 2015). When the alleles were added to a partial least square (PLS) plot, β -CN A² were plotted on the same side as the NC milk samples, but not very close. Instead, the coagulation group was connected to component 1 and the β -CN alleles with component 2 (**Paper III**).



Figure 14. Genotype frequencies of the most abundant genotypes found. Frequencies divided into coagulating (grey) and non-coagulating milk (green). Abbreviations used: casein (CN) and β -lactoglubulin (β -LG). The graph is adapted from data in Paper II.

There seems to be larger differences between the genotypes of the two groups, then for the alleles (Figure 13 and Figure 14). The largest difference between NC and coagulating milk samples regarding genotypes can been seen for β -CN A¹A¹ and κ -CN AE, where NC milk has less β -CN A¹A¹ and more κ -CN AE than coagulating milk (Figure 14). However, genotype had no significant impact on NC milk, but had a significant impact on protein amount (**Paper II**). It is therefore believed that genotype has an indirect effect on NC milk by determining the amount of expressed protein, but not a direct effect. From the generalised linear model in **Paper II** and the PLS in **Paper III**, it was concluded that genetic variants are important for NC milk, but the influence of them are not as strong as other parameters in milk and might mostly be influencing indirectly. However, β -CN variants could still be used in selective breeding as a strategy to reduce the frequency of NC milk, due to the indirect effects.

Calcium content

NC milk had less total and ionic Ca contents compared to milk that coagulated (**Paper I**). This is in agreement with other studies of NC milk (van Hooydonk et al., 1986; Gustavsson et al., 2014b). Due to the finding of less Ca in NC milk, it has previously been suggested that CaCl₂ addition to milk prior to coagulation, could be the solution to reduce NC milk. An addition of 0.02% CaCl₂ is sometimes added, which corresponds to about 40 mg Ca/L milk (Fox et al., 2017a). The difference of mean values of total Ca content in NC and coagulating milk was 135 mg/kg (**Paper I**) which is roughly 139 mg/L, with a milk density of 1.029 kg/L (Walstra et al., 2006). Thus, the addition of 0.02% CaCl₂ would not result in the same amount of total Ca in NC milk as in coagulating milk.

Ca content, among other minerals in milk, has been suggested to be caused by both environmental and genetic factors. Environmental factors are for example lactation, parity, and feeding (Tsioulpas et al., 2007; van Hulzen et al., 2009; Gaignon et al., 2018), while genetic factors are for example breed (Buitenhuis et al., 2015; Gaignon et al., 2018). A study by van Hulzen et al. (2009) showed that the intraherd estimated heritability was much higher than the herd variance (0.57 compared to 0.14). They therefore concluded that Ca content is mostly affected by genetic factors (van Hulzen et al., 2009). In this thesis, herd had a significant impact on total and ionic Ca, while total Ca also was impacted by parity and DIM (**Paper I**). Additionally, a strong estimated heritability of ionic Ca ($h^2 = 0.60$), but a non-significant heritability for total Ca was found (**Paper IV**). van Hulzen et al. (2009) speculated that the genetic variation of Ca secretion could be linked with the number of phosphorylated CN (van Hulzen et al., 2009). However, this has not been confirmed. Buitenhuis et al. (2015) has identified a quantitative trait locus for Ca on chromosome 14 (Buitenhuis et al., 2015), which could be used in breeding programs.

Coagulation process

To understand the mechanisms causing NC milk, it is of interest to know in which step the coagulation process is faulty. To determine this, the enzymatic cleavage of κ -CN to para- κ -CN and CMP was investigated in milk samples with extreme good and bad coagulation abilities (**Paper III**).

Previous studies have also investigated the enzymatic cleavage of NC milk samples but in a lower number of samples. They have also only investigated if either para- κ -CN or CMP could be detected and did not investigate the amounts detected. However, the studies implied that the enzymatic stage is occurring in NC milk (Hallén et al., 2010; Frederiksen et al., 2011). In this thesis, both para- κ -CN and CMP were detected after chymosin addition, while κ -CN was notably reduced (**Paper III**). Thereby, it is strongly believed that the enzymatic stage is not the cause of NC milk, but more likely, the aggregation stage. Figure 15 shows an example of the detection of para- κ -CN and CMP peaks in two coagulating and two NC milk samples.

As mentioned, the aggregation stage is affected by temperature, pH, as well as contents of CN, ionic Ca and denatured whey proteins (Lucey, 2009). In this thesis, coagulation experiments were always conducted at the same temperature, 32°C, and the same pH of 6.5. Therefore, the effect of these two parameters is neglected. Further, both total and different CN contents have been investigated as well as total and ionic Ca, which has been discussed before. The likeliness that NC milk is cleaved enzymatically but does not aggregate therefore strengthens the hypothesis that CN proteins and Ca plays a major role in the inability of the milk to coagulate. Ca content has a significant contribution in rennet-coagulation, as it links the hydrolysed CN micelles with each other (Corredig and Salvatore, 2016). However, ionic Ca content is influenced by pH (Walstra et al., 2006), and ionic Ca was in this thesis measured prior to pH adjustment, which can thereby influence the actual amount of ionic Ca during the coagulation measurements. At the same time, NC milk had lower amount of total Ca (**Paper I, III**), and it is therefore reasonable to assume that NC still will have less ionic Ca after pH adjustment.



Figure 15. Example of the detection of para-κ-casein (CN) and caseinomacropeptide (CMP) peaks after chymosin cleavage of κ-CN.

The two electopherograms on the top (grey) are coagulating samples while the two in the bottom (green) are noncoagulating milk samples. The graph is adapted from Paper III.

A study by Gamlath et al. (2018) has also investigated the role of native whey proteins in the coagulation process. Their result suggests that higher whey protein content can impair the aggregation stage (Gamlath et al., 2018). This agrees with the results in this thesis that NC milk can be associated with higher α -LA content but does not agree with the association between NC milk and less β -LG (**Paper II**).

Breeding perspectives to reduce noncoagulating milk

From the results obtained in this thesis, four possible markers for NC milk is suggested: κ -CN content, α -LA content, calcium content and β -CN variant. These markers may be used in the breeding industry to reduce the frequency of NC milk. In this thesis, genetic parameters, such as genetic correlations and estimated heritability for the different milk traits, were determined (**Paper IV**), and Figure 16 shows the estimated heritability for the traits.

The genetic correlation of -0.65 between NC milk and κ -CN and the high estimated heritability of 0.77 for κ -CN suggests that κ -CN is a good marker for the reduction of NC milk (**Paper IV**). Further, the genetic correlations also suggest that breeding for milk with higher κ -CN content would reduce the CN micelle size (based on genetic correlation found in **Paper IV**), and a smaller CN micelle size has previously been linked with better coagulation properties (Glantz et al., 2010; Gustavsson et al., 2014b; Ketto et al., 2017).

Regarding Ca content, both total and ionic Ca was linked to NC milk in different ways. From the genetic correlations, it is suggested that total Ca would be a better marker for NC milk as the correlation was very strong (-0.96). At the same time, the heritability estimate was not significant (Figure 16). However, other studies have found stronger heritability estimates of 0.57 (van Hulzen et al., 2009) and of 0.50 (Sanchez et al., 2018) for total Ca. Therefore, total Ca content should still be considered as a breeding marker for NC milk. Breeding for an increased total Ca content to reduce NC milk suggests that protein, CN and citric acid content would increase (based on genetic correlations found in **Paper IV**). Higher protein and CN contents in milk is beneficial for cheese production, as higher amounts improve coagulation ability (Jõudu et al., 2008). Protein content is often used as a factor when determining milk price and a higher content would therefore also benefit farmers. The role of citric acid in rennet coagulation is unclear and has been shown to be inconsistent. Higher citric acid content has been reported to have a significant phenotypic correlation with coagulation ability in Danish Jersey where higher citric acid increased CFR and decreased RCT. However, in the same study, no significant phenotypic correlation with coagulation ability in Danish Holstein was found, and the genetic correlations suggested that coagulation ability was impaired with higher citric acid content (Poulsen et al., 2015). Other studies have also shown that citrate impairs coagulation ability (Udabage et al., 2001; Sundekilde et al., 2011). Further, breeding for an increased Ca content would increase the nutritional value, as milk is an important source of this mineral in human diets.

The genetic correlation between α -LA content and the binary NC trait was 0.39 (**Paper IV**). The correlation is therefore weaker than NC correlations with κ -CN and Ca contents. The estimated heritability was 0.57 (Figure 16) and was therefore in between heritability of κ -CN and Ca. Breeding for a lower α -LA content to reduce NC would, based on the other significant correlations found, increase fat and CN contents (**Paper IV**). An increased fat content is also beneficial for farmers, as this is often also used when determining milk prices.

Genetic variants of β -CN were not evaluated using genetic parameters. However, due to findings in **Paper II**, where there were differences in the frequencies of allele A¹ and A² between NC and coagulating samples (Figure 13), there is potential with the genetic variants. Therefore, breeding for more β -CN A¹ or A¹A¹ could be a way of minimising NC milk. A study by Heck et al. (2009) showed that variant A¹ had significant lower protein yield in the milk, compared to variant A², resulting from a lower milk yield. Regarding different proteins, variant A¹ had higher relative frequencies of α_{s1} -CN and κ -CN but lower relative frequencies of α_{s2} -CN and β -CN compared to variant A² (Heck et al., 2009). However, another study by McLean et al. (1984) showed that the only significant difference in composition between A¹A¹ and A²A² was that the later had less whey protein amount (McLean et al., 1984). Breeding for more β -CN A¹ to reduce NC milk is therefore likely to affect protein amount or protein composition, but it is hard to conclude to what extent.



Figure 16. Estimated heritability of milk traits.

The graph is from Paper IV. Heritability estimates for non-coagulating (NC) milk, milk coagulation properties, milk composition and physical traits as well as milk protein composition. Error bars indicate standard errors (SE). Significance levels at: * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.05 and ns non-significant (P > 0.05). CN = casein; α -LA = α -lactalbumin; β -LG = composition. β-lactoglobulin; CFR = curd firming rate; RCT = remet coagulation time; G' = gel strength; σy. stress = yield stress. Rox or stress refers to the rheometric system used, free oscillation or low amplitude oscillation, respectively. Ca2+ = ionic calcium. Measurements for SCC are log-transformed, and measurements for CFRrox and G'rox are BoxCoxtransformed. Four outliers were removed from calcium content

Conclusions

This thesis has shown that 18.1% of cows within Swedish RDC produces NC milk, and additional 18.9% produces PC milk (**Paper I**). Thereby, it can be concluded that a large frequency of Swedish RDC produces milk that is not suited for cheese production. NC milk was found to have a moderate estimated heritability of 0.28 (**Paper IV**).

By analysing peptides after addition of chymosin to NC and well coagulating milk, it was possible to determine that the enzymatic stage is occurring in NC milk (**Paper III**). Therefore, it is strongly believed that the impaired coagulation in NC milk is caused by issues in the aggregation stage of the coagulation process.

Investigation of milk composition in NC milk (**Paper I, II, III, IV**) resulted in four possible phenotypic markers to be used in selective breeding.

- First, NC milk can be linked with a lower Ca content, both total and ionic Ca (**Paper I, III**). Ca has a large role in the aggregation of CN micelles, agreeing with a faulty aggregation stage in NC milk. Ionic Ca showed a high estimated heritability of 0.60, while total Ca had a strong genetic correlation of -0.96 with NC milk (**Paper IV**).
- The second phenotypic marker was κ -CN as it was shown that NC milk had a lower κ -CN content (**Paper III**), and κ -CN content had a significant impact on a binary NC trait (**Paper II**). For κ -CN, both estimated heritability and genetic correlation with NC milk was high, 0.77 and -0.65 respectively (**Paper IV**).
- The third marker was α-LA, since NC milk could be linked with a higher content of α-LA (Paper III), and α-LA content had a significant impact on a binary NC trait (Paper II). The estimated heritability was high (0.57), while the genetic correlation was moderate at 0.39 (Paper IV).
- Lastly, when investigating genetic variants in NC milk, it was revealed that NC milk had lower frequency of β-CN A¹ and higher frequency of β-CN A² (Paper II, III), which could also be used in breeding strategies.

By combing information about the suggested effect from the phenotypic markers on milk composition and processability with the genetic parameters, κ -CN is suggested to be the most prominent phenotypic marker trait. This thesis has thereby pointed out phenotypic markers found in NC milk that has potential to be used in selective breeding in order to reduce the frequency of NC milk in Swedish RDC.

Future outlook

The aim of the project "Genomic selection against non-coagulating milk", which this thesis is a part of, is to reduce the frequency of NC milk in the Swedish RDC breed by selective breeding. This thesis has provided suggestions on phenotypic markers that could be used in breeding strategies to reduce the frequency of NC milk while still maintaining a functional milk. However, the exact effects can only be determined by incorporating the markers in a breeding strategy and thereafter investigate the milk of the offspring. In order to fully develop a breeding program with genomic selection against NC milk, future research on finding the genes connected to NC milk would be highly recommended.

Even if NC milk has been studied for several years, the exact underlying mechanism or the full impact in cheese production has not been determined. Therefore, there is still a need for research within these areas. Results in this study suggest that the aggregation stage is the faulty step, which has added to the information about the mechanism. Investigation of NC milk in a cheese production line would determine if the CN proteins in NC milk ends up in the whey, or if they are somehow incorporated in the cheese gel thanks to the CN that aggregates from other individual cows. This would make it possible to determine the economic loss from NC milk as well as its environmental impact.

The first step in future research should however be focused on determining a standardised method for defining NC milk. This would provide better comparisons between studies and researches could combine their knowledge, making the research more efficient. Another topic that has been discussed for some time is to develop a field test, allowing NC milk to be determined directly at farms instead of rheological measurements in laboratories. This could provide a time and cost-efficient tool that could enable larger screening.

A reduced frequency of NC milk would not only benefit Swedish cheese dairies but also dairies worldwide as this breed is both exported and used in crossbreeding. As there is a desire to minimise additives in dairy processing, it would also ensure a processable milk without these additives.

References

- Amenu, B., and H.C. Deeth. 2007. The impact of milk composition on cheddar cheese manufacture. Aust. J. Dairy Technol. 62:171–184.
- Arla Foods, A. 2019. Kvalitetsprogrammet Arlagården.
- Berry, D.P., A.J. Twomey, R.D. Evans, A.R. Cromie, and S.C. Ring. 2019. Heritability what is it, and what is it not; implications for improving cattle health. Cattle Pract. 27.
- Berry, S.D., P.A. Sheehy, P. Williamson, J.A. Sharp, K. Menzies, C. Lefevre, M. Digby, K.R. Nicholas, P.C. Wynn, and R.G. Snell. 2014. Significance, Origin, and Function of Bovine Milk Proteins: The Biological Implications of Manipulation or Modification. 2nd Edition. H. Singh, M. Boland, and A. Thompson, ed. Elsevier Inc, London, UK.
- Bijl, E., R. de Vries, H. van Valenberg, T. Huppertz, and T. van Hooijdonk. 2014. Factors influencing casein micelle size in milk of individual cows: Genetic variants and glycosylation of κ-casein. Int. Dairy J. 34:135–141.
- Bittante, G., M. Penasa, and A. Cecchinato. 2012. Invited review: Genetics and modeling of milk coagulation properties. J. Dairy Sci. 95:6843–6870.
- Boichard, D., and M. Brochard. 2012. New phenotypes for new breeding goals in dairy cattle. Animal 6:544–550.
- Buitenhuis, B., N.A. Poulsen, L.B. Larsen, and J. Sehested. 2015. Estimation of genetic parameters and detection of quantitative trait loci for minerals in Danish Holstein and Danish Jersey milk. BMC Genet. 16:52.
- Bynum, D.G., and N.F. Olson. 1982. Influence of Curd Firmness at Cutting on Yield and Recovery of Milk Constituents. J. Dairy Sci. 65:2281–2290.
- Caroli, A.M., S. Chessa, and G.J. Erhardt. 2009. Invited review: Milk protein polymorphisms in cattle: Effect on animal breeding and human nutrition. J. Dairy Sci. 92:5335–5352.
- Cassandro, M., A. Comin, M. Ojala, R. Dal Zotto, M. De Marchi, L. Gallo, P. Carnier, and G. Bittante. 2008. Genetic Parameters of Milk Coagulation Properties and Their Relationships with Milk Yield and Quality Traits in Italian Holstein Cows. J. Dairy Sci. 91:371–376.
- Cecchinato, A., M. Penasa, M. De Marchi, L. Gallo, G. Bittante, and P. Carnier. 2011. Genetic parameters of coagulation properties, milk yield, quality, and acidity estimated using coagulating and noncoagulating milk information in Brown Swiss and Holstein-Friesian cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94:4205–4213.

Chr Hansen. 2013. CHY-MAX Plus - Product Information.

- Clasen, J.B., A. Fogh, and M. Kargo. 2019. Differences between performance of F1 crossbreds and Holsteins at different production levels. J. Dairy Sci. 102:436–441.
- Corredig, M., and E. Salvatore. 2016. Enzymatic coagulation of milk. 4th Edition. P.L.H. McSweeney and J.A. O'Mahony, ed. Springer, New York.
- Dalgleish, D.G., and M. Corredig. 2012. The Structure of the Casein Micelle of Milk and Its Changes During Processing. Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol. 3:449–467.
- Devold, T.G., M.J. Brovold, T. Langsrud, and G.E. Vegarud. 2000. Size of native and heated casein micelles, content of protein and minerals in milk from Norwegian Red Cattle—effect of milk protein polymorphism and different feeding regimes. Int. Dairy J. 10:313–323.
- Duchemin, S.I., M. Glantz, D.-J. de Koning, M. Paulsson, and W.F. Fikse. 2016. Identification of QTL on Chromosome 18 Associated with Non-Coagulating Milk in Swedish Red Cows. Front. Genet. 7.
- Fang, Z.H., M.H.P.W. Visker, G. Miranda, A. Delacroix-Buchet, H. Bovenhuis, and P. Martin. 2016. The relationships among bovine αS-casein phosphorylation isoforms suggest different phosphorylation pathways. J. Dairy Sci. 99:8168–8177.
- Farrell, H.M., R. Jimenez-Flores, G.T. Bleck, E.M. Brown, J.E. Butler, L.K. Creamer, C.L. Hicks, C.M. Hollar, K.F. Ng-Kwai-Hang, and H.E. Swaisgood. 2004. Nomenclature of the proteins of cows' milk - Sixth revision. J. Dairy Sci. 87:1641–1674.
- Fox, P.F., T.M. Cogan, and T.P. Guinee. 2017a. Factors That Affect the Quality of Cheese. 4th Edition. P.L.H. McSweeney, P.F. Fox, P.D. Cotter, and D.W. Everett, ed. Elsevier Ltd, London, UK.
- Fox, P.F., T.P. Guinee, T.M. Cogan, and P.L.H. McSweeney. 2017b. Fundamentals of Cheese Science. 2nd Edition. Springer, New York.
- Fox, P.F., T. Uniacke-Lowe, P.L.H. McSweeney, and J.A. O'Mahony. 2015. Dairy Chemistry and Biochemistry. 2nd Edition. Springer, New York.
- Frederiksen, P.D., K.K. Andersen, M. Hammershøj, H.D. Poulsen, J. Sørensen, M. Bakman, K.B. Qvist, and L.B. Larsen. 2011. Composition and effect of blending of noncoagulating, poorly coagulating, and well-coagulating bovine milk from individual Danish Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94:4787–4799.
- Gaignon, P., M. Gelé, C. Hurtaud, and A. Boudon. 2018. Characterization of the nongenetic causes of variation in the calcium content of bovine milk on French farms. J. Dairy Sci. 101:4554–4569.
- Gamlath, C.J., T.S.H. Leong, M. Ashokkumar, and G.J.O. Martin. 2018. The inhibitory roles of native whey protein on the rennet gelation of bovine milk. Food Chem. 244:36–43.
- Glantz, M., T.G. Devold, G.E. Vegarud, H. Lindmark Månsson, H. Stålhammar, and M. Paulsson. 2010. Importance of casein micelle size and milk composition for milk gelation. J. Dairy Sci. 93:1444–1451.
- Gustavsson, F., A.J. Buitenhuis, M. Glantz, H. Stålhammar, H. Lindmark Månsson, N.A. Poulsen, L.B. Larsen, A. Andrén, and M. Paulsson. 2014a. Impact of genetic variants of milk proteins on chymosin-induced gelation properties of milk from individual cows of Swedish Red dairy cattle. Int. Dairy J. 39:102–107.

- Gustavsson, F., M. Glantz, A.J. Buitenhuis, H. Lindmark Månsson, H. Stålhammar, A. Andrén, and M. Paulsson. 2014b. Factors influencing chymosin-induced gelation of milk from individual dairy cows: Major effects of casein micelle size and calcium. Int. Dairy J. 39:201–208.
- Gustavsson, F., M. Glantz, N.A. Poulsen, L. Wadsö, H. Stålhammar, A. Andrén, H. Lindmark Månsson, L.B. Larsen, M. Paulsson, and W.F. Fikse. 2014c. Genetic parameters for rennet- and acid-induced coagulation properties in milk from Swedish Red dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97:5219–5229.
- Hallén, E., A. Lundén, A.-M. Tyrisevä, M. Westerlind, and A. Andrén. 2010. Composition of poorly and non-coagulating bovine milk and effect of calcium addition. J. Dairy Res. 77:398–403.
- Harris, D.C. 2010. Quantitative Chemical Analysis. 8th Edition. W. H. Freeman and Company, New York.
- Heck, J.M.L., A. Schennink, H.J.F. Van Valenberg, H. Bovenhuis, M.H.P.W. Visker, J.A.M. Van Arendonk, and A.C.M. Van Hooijdonk. 2009. Effects of milk protein variants on the protein composition of bovine milk. J. Dairy Sci. 92:1192–1202.
- Hiraoka, Y., T. Segawa, K. Kuwajima, S. Sugai, and N. Murai. 1980. α-Lactalbumin: A calcium metalloprotein. Top. Catal. 95:1098–1104.
- Holt, C., J.A. Carver, H. Ecroyd, and D.C. Thorn. 2013. Invited review: Caseins and the casein micelle: Their biological functions, structures, and behavior in foods1. J. Dairy Sci. 96:6127–6146.
- Holt, C., C., de Kruif, R. Tuinier, and P.. Timmins. 2003. Substructure of bovine casein micelles by small-angle X-ray and neutron scattering. Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 213:275–284.
- van Hooydonk, A.C.M., H.G. Hagedoorn, and I.J. Boerrigter. 1986. The effect of various cations on the renneting of milk. Neth. Milk Dairy J 40:369–390.
- Horne, D.S. 2006. Casein micelle structure: Models and muddles. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 11:148–153.
- Horne, D.S., and J.A. Lucey. 2017. Cheese: Rennet-Induced Coagulation of Milk. 4th Edition. P.L.H. Mcsweeney, P.F. Fox, P.D. Cotter, and D.W. Everett, ed. Elsevier Ltd, London, UK.
- van Hulzen, K.J.E., R.C. Sprong, R. van der Meer, and J.A.M. van Arendonk. 2009. Genetic and nongenetic variation in concentration of selenium, calcium, potassium, zinc, magnesium, and phosphorus in milk of Dutch Holstein-Friesian cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92:5754–5759.
- Huppertz, T., P.F. Fox, and A.L. Kelly. 2018. The caseins: Structure, stability, and functionality. 2nd Edition. R.Y. Yada, ed. Elsevier Ltd, Duxford, UK.
- Huppertz, T., I. Gazi, H. Luyten, H. Nieuwenhuijse, A. Alting, and E. Schokker. 2017. Hydration of casein micelles and caseinates: Implications for casein micelle structure. Int. Dairy J. 74:1–11.
- Ikonen, T., S. Morri, A.-M. Tyrisevä, O. Ruottinen, and M. Ojala. 2004. Genetic and Phenotypic Correlations Between Milk Coagulation Properties, Milk Production Traits, Somatic Cell Count, Casein Content, and pH of Milk. J. Dairy Sci. 87:458– 467.

- International Dairy Federation. 2019. The World Dairy Situation 2019. Bulletin of the International Dairy Federation 501.
- Jensen, H.B., N.A. Poulsen, K.K. Andersen, M. Hammershøj, H.D. Poulsen, and L.B. Larsen. 2012. Distinct composition of bovine milk from Jersey and Holstein-Friesian cows with good, poor, or noncoagulation properties as reflected in protein genetic variants and isoforms. J. Dairy Sci. 95:6905–6917.
- Jørgensen, C.E., R.K. Abrahamsen, E.-O. Rukke, A.-G. Johansen, R.B. Schüller, and S.B. Skeie. 2016. Optimization of protein fractionation by skim milk microfiltration: Choice of ceramic membrane pore size and filtration temperature. J. Dairy Sci. 99:6164–6179.
- Jõudu, I., M. Henno, T. Kaart, T. Püssa, and O. Kärt. 2008. The effect of milk protein contents on the rennet coagulation properties of milk from individual dairy cows. Int. Dairy J. 18:964–967.
- Ketto, I.A., T.M. Knutsen, J. Øyaas, B. Heringstad, T. Ådnøy, T. Guldbrandsen Devold, and S.B. Skeie. 2017. Effects of milk protein polymorphism and composition, casein micellesize and salt distribution on the milk coagulation properties inNorwegian Red cattle. Int. Dairy J. 70:55–64.
- Léonil, J., D. Mollé, F. Gaucheron, P. Arpino, P. Guénot, and J.L. Maubois. 1995. Analysis of major bovine milk proteins by on-line high-performance liquid chromatography and electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry. Lait 75:193–210.
- Lucey, J.A. 2009. Milk protein gels. 1st Edition. A. Thompson, M. Boland, and H. Singh, ed. Elsevier Inc, San Diego, CA, USA.
- Malacarne, M., P. Franceschi, P. Formaggioni, S. Sandri, P. Mariani, and A. Summer. 2014. Influence of micellar calcium and phosphorus on rennet coagulation properties of cows milk. J. Dairy Res. 81:129–136.
- Malchiodi, F., A. Cecchinato, M. Penasa, C. Cipolat-Gotet, and G. Bittante. 2014. Milk quality, coagulation properties, and curd firmness modeling of purebred Holsteins and first- and second-generation crossbred cows from Swedish Red, Montbéliarde, and Brown Swiss bulls. J. Dairy Sci. 97:4530–4541.
- Martin, P., L. Bianchi, C. Cebo, and G. Miranda. 2013. Genetic Polymorphism of Milk Proteins. 4th Edition. P.L.H. McSweeney and P.F. Fox, ed. Springer, New York.
- McLean, D.M., B.E.R. Graham, and R.W. Ponzoni. 1984. Effects of milk protein genetic variants on milk yield and composition. J. Dairy Res. 51:531–546.
- Nájera, A.I., M. De Renobales, and L.J.R. Barron. 2003. Effects of pH, temperature, CaCl2 and enzyme concentrations on the rennet-clotting properties of milk: A multifactorial study. Food Chem. 80:345–352.
- Nordic Cattle Genetic Evaluation. 2020. NAV routine genetic evaluation of Dairy Cattle data and genetic models.
- Nyman, S., H. Gustafsson, and B. Berglund. 2018. Extent and pattern of pregnancy losses and progesterone levels during gestation in Swedish Red and Swedish Holstein dairy cows. Acta Vet. Scand. 60:68.
- O'Mahony, J.A., and P.F. Fox. 2014. Milk: An Overview. 2nd Edition. H. Singh, M. Boland, and A. Thompson, ed. Elsevier Inc, London, UK.

- Okigbo, L.M., G.H. Richardson, R.J. Brown, and C.A. Ernstrom. 1985. Effects of pH, Calcium Chloride, and Chymosin Concentration on Coagulation Properties of Abnormal and Normal Milk. J. Dairy Sci. 68:2527–2533.
- Otte, J., M. Zakora, K.R. Kristiansen, and K.B. Qvist. 1997. Analysis of bovine caseins and primary hydrolysis products in cheese by capillary zone electrophoresis. Lait 77:241–257.
- Permyakov, E.A., and L.J. Berliner. 2000. α-Lactalbumin: structure and function. FEBS Lett. 473:269–274.
- Poulsen, N.A., A.J. Buitenhuis, and L.B. Larsen. 2015. Phenotypic and genetic associations of milk traits with milk coagulation properties. J. Dairy Sci. 98:2079– 2087.
- Poulsen, N.A., M. Glantz, A.K. Rosengaard, M. Paulsson, and L.B. Larsen. 2017. Comparison of milk protein composition and rennet coagulation properties in native Swedish dairy cow breeds and high-yielding Swedish Red cows. J. Dairy Sci. 100:8722–8734.
- Poulsen, N.A., A.K. Rosengaard, B.D. Szekeres, V.R. Gregersen, H.B. Jensen, and L.B. Larsen. 2016. Protein heterogeneity of bovine β-casein in Danish dairy breeds and association of rare β-casein F with milk coagulation properties. Acta Agric. Scand. Sect. A Anim. Sci. 66:190–198.
- Rauh, V.M., L.B. Johansen, M. Bakman, R. Ipsen, M. Paulsson, L.B. Larsen, and M. Hammershøj. 2015. Protein lactosylation in UHT milk during storage measured by Liquid Chromatography – Mass Spectrometry and quanti fi cation of furosine. Int. J. Dairy Technol. 68:486–494.
- Raynes, J.K., L. Day, M.A. Augustin, and J.A. Carver. 2015. Structural differences between bovine A1 and A2 β-casein alter micelle self-assembly and influence molecular chaperone activity. J. Dairy Sci. 98:2172–2182.
- Saito, T., and T. Itoh. 1992. Variations and Distributions of O-Glycosidically Linked Sugar Chains in Bovine κ-Casein. J. Dairy Sci. 75:1768–1774.
- Sanchez, M.P., M. El Jabri, S. Minéry, V. Wolf, E. Beuvier, C. Laithier, A. Delacroix-Buchet, M. Brochard, and D. Boichard. 2018. Genetic parameters for cheese-making properties and milk composition predicted from mid-infrared spectra in a large data set of Montbéliarde cows. J. Dairy Sci. 101:10048–10061.
- Sawyer, L. 2013. β-Lactoglobulin. 4th Edition. P.L.H. McSweeney and P.F. Fox, ed. Springer, New York.
- Steen, H., and M. Mann. 2004. The abc's (and xyz's) of peptide sequencing. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5:699–711.
- Stocco, G., C. Cipolat-Gotet, T. Bobbo, A. Cecchinato, and G. Bittante. 2017. Breed of cow and herd productivity affect milk composition and modeling of coagulation, curd firming, and syneresis. J. Dairy Sci. 100:129–145.
- Sundekilde, U.K., P.D. Frederiksen, M.R. Clausen, L.B. Larsen, and H.C. Bertram. 2011. Relationship between the metabolite profile and technological properties of bovine milk from two dairy breeds elucidated by NMR-based metabolomics. J. Agric. Food Chem. 59:7360–7367.

- Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics. 2020a. Compute PI/Mw Tool. Accessed January 27, 2020. https://web.expasy.org/compute_pi/.
- Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics. 2020b. Swiss Mass Abacus. Accessed January 27, 2020. https://glycoproteome.expasy.org/swiss-mass-abacus/.
- Troch, T., É. Lefébure, V. Baeten, and F. Colinet. 2017. Cow milk coagulation : process description , variation factors and evaluation methodologies . A review. Biotechnol. Agron. Soc. Env. 21.
- Tsioulpas, A., M.J. Lewis, and A.S. Grandison. 2007. Effect of Minerals on Casein Micelle Stability of Cows' Milk. J. Dairy Res. 74:167–173.
- Tyrisevä, A.-M., K. Elo, A. Kuusipuro, V. Vilva, I. Jänönen, H. Karjalainen, T. Ikonen, and M. Ojala. 2008. Chromosomal Regions Underlying Noncoagulation of Milk in Finnish Ayrshire Cows. Genetics 180:1211–1220.
- Tyrisevä, A.-M., T. Ikonen, and M. Ojala. 2003. Repeatability estimates for milk coagulation traits and non-coagulation of milk in Finnish Ayrshire cows. J. Dairy Res. 70:91–98.
- Tyrisevä, A.M., T. Vahlsten, O. Ruottinen, and M. Ojala. 2004. Noncoagulation of milk in Finnish Ayrshire and Holstein-Friesian cows and effect of herds on milk coagulation ability. J. Dairy Sci. 87:3958–3966.
- Udabage, P., I.R. McKinnon, and M.A. Augustin. 2001. Effects of mineral salts and calcium chelating agents on the gelation of renneted skim milk. J. Dairy Sci. 84:1569–1575.
- UniProt Consortium. 2019. About UniProt. Accessed March 12, 2020. https://www.uniprot.org/help/about.
- UniProtKB. 2020. P02666. Accessed March 13, 2020. https://www.uniprot.org/uniprot/P02666.
- Växa Sverige. 2019. Cattle statistics 2019.
- Visker, M.H.P.W., J.M.L. Heck, H.J.F. van Valenberg, J.A.M. van Arendonk, and H. Bovenhuis. 2012. Short communication: A new bovine milk-protein variant: α-Lactalbumin variant D. J. Dairy Sci. 95:2165–2169.
- Vreeman, H.J., S. Visser, C.J. Slangen, and J.A. Van Riel. 1986. Characterization of bovine kappa-casein fractions and the kinetics of chymosin-induced macropeptide release from carbohydrate-free and carbohydrate-containing fractions determined by high-performance gel-permeation chromatography.. Biochem. J. 240:87–97.
- Walstra, P., J.T.M. Wouters, and T.J. Geurts. 2006. Dairy Science and Technology. 2nd Edition. Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton, FL.
- Wedholm, A., L.B. Larsen, H. Lindmark-Månsson, A.H. Karlsson, and A. Andrén. 2006. Effect of protein composition on the cheese-making properties of milk from individual dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89:3296–3305.
- Wishard, A., and B.C. Gibb. 2019. Dynamic light scattering an all-purpose guide for the supramolecular chemist. Supramol. Chem. 31:608–615.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank **Swedish farmers' foundation for agricultural research** and **VikingGenetics** for financial support of my project.

Thank you to my supervisors. **Maria Glantz**, I've been privileged to have had your knowledge within the milk genomics area to help me out these years. I would also like to thank you for your structured way of working, it has helped me to calm down in stressful times. **Marie Paulsson**, you have especially provided a great insight into the dairy world with your big network. I also want to thank you for all the encouragement, especially during my writing process.

My project group within "Genomic selection against non-coagulating milk". Sandrine Duchemin, I am very grateful that I got to work with you in this project and especially the time we spent writing the paper together. You are a great inspiration! Helena Lindmark-Månsson, your way of putting results and ides into perspective has been very valuable. Hans Stålhammar, thank you for all the help, especially during the milk collection and that I could always come to you about questions about breeding. Mikka Stenholdt Hansen, thank you for making me feel welcome every time I visited you in Aarhus. It has also been most valuable to have had your knowledge within dairy processing and analytical techniques in this project. Freddy Fikse and Dirk-Jan de Koning, I really appreciate all the time both of you have spent with explaining statistics and genomics to me.

Tomas Sandin, this thesis would not have been possible without collection of all the samples. I am very thankful that you performed this collection, but also for sharing your knowledge about cows and breeding. And of course, thank you to **all the farmers** that allowed us to collect samples from your cows!

Lene Buhelt Johansen, I am so grateful for all the time you've spent in the lab and to help me handling all the data and for always taking the time to answer my many questions. Ahmed Abdelghani, thanks for making me feel welcome in Norway during my stay there and for running the CE experiments with me. Stephen Burleigh, I am thankful that you stayed patient with me even when I changed my mind every other day about what data or method to use.

Thank you, **Matilda Carlsson** and **Peter Lund Bender**, for choosing to make your master and bachelor theses in my project. Being your supervisor was a great learning experience for me.

Thank you Søren Borchersen and Lotte Bach Larsen for valuable discussions during the reference group meetings. Lotte and Nina Poulsen, thank you also for always answering my questions about analyses throughout the years.

Dan Johansson and **Hans Bolinsson**, your help with chemistry and equipment during these years was highly appreciated. It was great to spend time with both of you in the pilot hall during the dairy labs, especially making ice cream!

Ida-Marie, my partner in true crime. I am so grateful for everything we have been through and I will really miss not seeing you every day, discussing everything from Dingo Pictures movies to serial killers. Come over sometime! **Maria**, thank you so much for all help and encouraging words, and for always being there when I needed to talk to someone. Even if it was mostly about documentaries. **Peter**, thank you for disturbing me every day to remind me about fika or lunch so I didn't work myself to death. Also, thank you for always taking the time to listen, support or entertain me when I needed it.

To **all colleagues** at the department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition. There have been so many great discussions at fika and lunch with a variety of topics that I've enjoyed. The feed-back and support between us PhD students at the public speaking sessions. All of you who participated in summer excursions, after works and Christmas dinners. Thank you for contributing in different ways for a better work environment and to my PhD education.

My IKEA-team: **Ida, Emma and Alisa**. Even though we've all had our PhD journeys at different universities in Sweden, I am so glad that I could share this with you. Thank you for the laughs, support and encouragement during all those hours of group telephone talks. You are the best and I hope I can support you in what you have left of your own PhD journeys.

Coach Boris, I really appreciate the time you've spent to motivate me and preparing me both physically and mentally.

Nilla, sister surround, thank you for always reading my texts and giving me feedback when I've asked, even if this is far from your area of expertise. I am very impressed by your engagement and I think that you are the only person I know that has read a whole volume of International Dairy Journal, from beginning to end.

Axel, thank you for feeding Vader when I've been away with work. You've also been an excellent driver picking me up from various AW's and dissertation parties. Now I can do my best in making sure you can reach your dream of being a stay-athome dad for the cat.

Lastly, Bill Gates, what would I have done without my beloved Office?